Aus der Klinik und Poliklinik für Frauenheilkunde und Geburtshilfe

der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

Direktor: Prof. Dr. Sven Mahner



Expression of Carbohydrate Lewis Antigens in the Placenta of Patients with Miscarriages

Dissertation

zum Erwerb des Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

vorgelegt von

Zhi Ma

aus

Hubei, China Jahr 2023 Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

Erstes Gutachten:	Prof. Dr. Udo Jeschke			
Zweites Gutachten:	Prof. Dr. Markus Sperandio			
Drittes Gutachten:	Priv. Doz. Dr. Tina Buchholz			
Viertes Gutachten:	Prof. Dr. Uwe Hasbargern			
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. Med. Thomas Gudermann			
Tag der mündlich Prüfung:	26.09.2023			

Affidavit



Ma, Zhi

Surname, first name

I hereby declare, that the submitted thesis entitled:

Expression of Carbohydrate Lewis Antigens in the Placenta of Patients with Miscarriages

.....

is my own work. I have only used the sources indicated and have not made unauthorised use of services of a third party. Where the work of others has been quoted or reproduced, the source is always given.

I further declare that the dissertation presented here has not been submitted in the same or similar form to any other institution for the purpose of obtaining an academic degree.

Hangzhou, 01.10.2023

Ma, Zhi

place, date

Signature doctoral candidate

Confirmation of congruency



LUDWIG-MAXIMILIANS-UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN

Promotionsbüro Medizinische Fakultät





Confirmation of congruency between printed and electronic version of the doctoral thesis

Ma, Zhi

Surname, first name

I hereby declare, that the submitted thesis entitled:

Expression of Carbohydrate Lewis Antigens in the Placenta of Patients with Miscarriages

.....

is congruent with the printed version both in content and format.

Hangzhou, 01.10.2023

Ma, Zhi

place, date

Signature doctoral candidate

Table of Contents

AFFIDAVIT	1
CONFIRMATION OF CONGRUENCY	2
TABLE OF CONTENTS	3
1. ABBREVIATIONS	4
2. PUBLICATION LIST	6
3. CONTRIBUTION TO THE PUBLICATIONS	7
3.1 Contribution to Paper I	7
3.2 Contribution to Paper II	7
4. INTRODUCTION	8
4.1 PREGNANCY AND MISCARRIAGES	8
4.1.1 Pregnancy related immune cells and cytokines	8
4.1.2 Endometrial immune perturbations in miscarriages	10
4.1.3 Hyper-receptive endometrium in recurrent miscarriage	13
4.2 CARBOHYDRATE LEWIS ANTIGENS	14
4.2.1 Classification and synthesis	15
4.2.2 Physiological functions	17
4.2.3 In cancer progression	19
4.2.4 As cancer biomarkers	22
4.2.5 As targets of cancer vaccines and therapeutics	23
4.3 MODULATION OF CYTOKINES ON THE EXPRESSION OF CARBOHYDRATE LEWIS ANTIGENS	24
4.4 AIM OF THE STUDY	25
5. PUBLICATION I	27
6. PUBLICATION II	42
7. SUMMARY	56
8. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG	58
9. REFERENCES	60
10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	85
LIST OF ALL SCIENTIFIC PUBLICATIONS	86

1. Abbreviations

ALDH	aldehyde dehydrogenase
Ang	angiopoietin
APC	antigen-presenting cell
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor
CA-125	carbohydrate antigen 125
CCL	C-C motif ligand
CDC	complement-dependent cytotoxicity
CEA	carcinoembryonic antigen
CSC	cancer stem cell
CXCL	C-X-C motif ligand
DC	dendritic cell
EBP	egg-binding protein
ECM	extracellular matrix
EGF	epidermal growth factor
EMT	Epithelial-mesenchymal transition
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	extracellular-signal-regulated kinase
ESC	endometrial stromal cell
EVT	extravillous trophoblast
FOXP3	Forkhead box P3
Fuc	Fucose
FUT	fucosyltransferase
Gal	galactose
GalNAc	<i>N</i> -acetylgalactosamine
GBM	glioblastoma multiforme
G-CSF	granulocyte colony stimulating factor
GDP	guanosine-diphosphate
Glc	glucose
GlcA	glucuronic acid
GlcNAc	<i>N</i> -acetylglucosamine
GM-CSF	granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
GSEA	gene set enrichment analysis
HB-EGF	heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
HNSCC	head and neck squamous cell carcinoma
HUVEC	human umbilical vein endothelial cell
IdoA	iduronic acid
IF	immunofluorescent
IHC	immunohistochemical
IL-	interleukin

KEGG	Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes
KIR	killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor
KLH	keyhole limpet hemocyanin
LeA	Lewis A
LeB	Lewis B
LeX	Lewis X
LeY	Lewis Y
LIF	leukemia inhibitory factor
mAbs	monoclonal antibodies
Man	mannose
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase
M-CSF	macrophage colony stimulating factor
MFR	monthly fecundity rate
MIF	migration inhibitory factor
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
MSK	mitogen- and stress-activated kinase
MUC1	mucin 1
NEU	neuraminidase
Neu5Ac	sialic acid
PADRE	pan-HLA-DR-binding epitope
PAMM	placenta associated maternal macrophage
pNK	peripheral natural killer
POFUT	O-fucosylation
PRL	prolactin
PROK1	prokineticin 1
sLeA	sialyl Lewis A
sLeX	sialyl Lewis X
SSEA-1	Stage-specific embryonic antigen-1
ST	sialyltransferase
TGF-β	transforming growth factor-beta
Th	T helper
TIMP	tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase
TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor-alpha
Treg	T regulatory
TTP	time-to-pregnancy
uNK	uterine natural killer
uRM	unexplained recurrent miscarriage
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
Xyl	xylose
ZP	zona pellucida

2. Publication list

2.1 Expression of the Carbohydrate Lewis Antigen, Sialyl Lewis A, Sialyl Lewis X, Lewis X, and Lewis Y in the Placental Villi of Patients with Unexplained Miscarriages

Zhi Ma, Huixia Yang, Lin Peng, Christina Kuhn, Anca Chelariu-Raicu, Sven Mahner, Udo Jeschke, and Viktoria von Schönfeldt

Front Immunol. 2021, 12:679424. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.679424

2.2 Targeting Aberrantly Elevated Sialyl Lewis A as a Potential Therapy for Impaired Endometrial Selection Ability in Unexplained Recurrent Miscarriage

Zhi Ma, Huixia Yang, Mirjana Kessler, Markus Sperandio, Sven Mahner, Udo Jeschke, and Viktoria von Schönfeldt

Front Immunol. 2022, 13:919193. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.919193

3. Contribution to the publications

3.1 Contribution to Paper I

This study was designed and coordinated by Udo Jeschke and Viktoria von Schönfeldt. As the sole first author of this paper, I performed all the experiments and statistical analysis. Huixia Yang, Lin Peng, and Christina Kuhn assisted the immunohistochemistry. Meanwhile, I wrote the manuscript, Anca Chelariu-Raicu and Sven Mahner made significant intellectual content revision.

3.2 Contribution to Paper II

This study was designed and coordinated by Udo Jeschke and Viktoria von Schönfeldt. As the sole first author of this paper, I performed all the experiments, especially optimized the in vitro implantation model. Huixia Yang and Mirjana Kessler assisted the immunohistochemistry, cytokine treatment, and qPCR assay. Statistical analysis and manuscript drafting were also accomplished by me. Mirjana Kessler, Markus Sperandio, and Sven Mahner made significant intellectual content revision.

4. Introduction

4.1 Pregnancy and Miscarriages

4.1.1 Pregnancy related immune cells and cytokines

An inflammatory response involves the upregulation of chemokines and cytokines as well as subsequent recruitment of immune cells from the bloodstream to the injured or infected site, which is a fundamental protection of our human body from invading organisms [1]. Emerging evidence indicates that an inflammatory microenvironment is also required for successful implantation and maintenance of pregnancy [2].

The population of immune cells in human decidua and endometrium has been extensively studied, of which uterine natural killer (uNK) cells (comprising 65-70% of the leukocytes in first trimester), antigen-presenting cells (APCs, make up for about 10-20%) like macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs), and T cells (around 10%) are the three main cell types [1, 3]. Unlike the counterpart cytotoxic peripheral NK (pNK) cells, uNK cells do not appear to be involved in cytotoxic responses to embryos, they mostly express CD56 that differs from the classical markers CD3/4/8/16/57 carried by the major population of pNK cells [4, 5]. Moreover, uNK cells have killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs), which bind to human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-C expressed by the extravillous trophoblasts (EVTs), favoring greater reproductive success [6]. The exact origin of uNK cells remains an enigma, many studies have revealed that they could differentiate from recruited peripheral blood precursors as well as directly proliferate from the local CD34+ precursor cells in decidual tissues driven by factors like interleukin 11 (IL-11) and IL-15 secreted by DCs and endometrial cells, or from recruited pNK cells which is facilitated by transforming growth factor-beta $(TGF-\beta)$ secreted by macrophages [7-9]. Known cytokines and growth factors produced by uNK cells are tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α), leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), interferon-gamma (IFN-y), IL family members (IL-1β, IL-6, and IL-8), vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs), angiopoietin 1 (Ang1), Ang2, TGF-β1,

macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF), granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF), and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), which have been attributed with crucial roles in promoting spiral artery remodeling and regulating trophoblast invasion [10, 11].

Unlike uNK cells' significantly reduced number in the third trimester, macrophages and DCs remain present at high levels at the implantation site throughout pregnancy [12, 13]. Placenta associated maternal macrophages (PAMM) originate from maternal blood monocytes which are found in the intervillous space [14]. Several lines of evidence suggest that placental villi as well as IL-1ß stimulated decidual cells secrete an array of cytokines including macrophage migration inhibitory factor (MIF), C-X-C motif ligand 2 (CXCL2), CXCL3, CXCL8, C-C motif ligand 2 (CCL2), and CCL5, which attract monocytes migration and macrophages recruitment [15-17]. PAMM and DCs themselves also produce a diverse range of enzymes and cytokines like IL4, IL10, and IL13 that control the angiogenesis and tissue remodeling [1, 18]. Besides, macrophages derived LIF and IL-1 β contribute to the embryo attachment by regulating al,2 fucosyltransferases in endometrial cells [19, 20]. In parallel, macrophages have been found to drive trophoblast invasion and clean up debris of apoptotic trophoblast preventing the initiation of semi-allogenic immune response [21, 22]. Accumulation of DCs surrounding the implanted embryo has been suggested to be involved in inducing immunologic tolerance and regulation of T cell-mediated immunity [23]. Further, it has been evident that cross-talks between DCs and uNK cells stimulate the reciprocal maturation and activation [24].

T cells especially T helper (Th1, Th2, and Th17) and T regulatory (Treg) cells are also key players in shaping maternal immune tolerance towards semi-allogenic fetus during pregnancy [22]. These T cell subsets are differentiated from the naïve CD3+CD4+ T cells upon the recognition of active signals including conceptus antigens, a comprehensive bias to stimulate generation of CD4+ Treg cells and suppress Th1 and Th17 cells has been widely acknowledge as the crucial feature in this adaptive immune process [25]. Th1 cells produce mainly pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF- α , IFN- γ , IL-1, IL-2, IL-12, IL-15, and IL-18, while Th2 cells exert anti-inflammatory action by secreting IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, and IL-13 [26]. Pro-inflammatory Th1 response is required particularly in the peri-implantation period to favor trophoblast invasion and promote tissue remodeling and angiogenesis, while after the accomplishment of embryo implantation, Th1 immune predominance will be gradually taken over by the Th2 antiinflammatory response [27]. Treg cells recruitment in the uterine starts from the proliferative phase, the number peaks in the mid-secretory phase driven by estrogen and remains elevated throughout the pregnancy [28]. Compelling evidence suggests that engagement of Treg cells with a range of immune cells during implantation lays the foundation for establishing a propitious decidual environment [25, 29]. Through cooperating with progesterone and specific trophoblast derived signals, Treg cells confer macrophages and DCs with anti-inflammatory (M2 subset) and tolerogenic phenotypes, respectively, through TGF- β , IL-10, and CTLA4-mediated mechanisms [29]. In turn, tolerogenic DCs are capable of expanding the Tregs population, while a decline in the number of IL-12-producing decidual DCs contributes to the differentiation and maintenance of Th2 cells in the decidua [27, 30, 31].

In summary, immune cells and cytokine signaling pathways participate as critical mediators of the coordinated interactions between maternal endometrium and fetal blastocyst in maintaining healthy pregnancy. Revealing the functional significance of these mediators at the fetomaternal interface provides important insights into the pathogenesis underlying abnormal pregnancies and sheds light on possible therapeutic strategies.

4.1.2 Endometrial immune perturbations in miscarriages

The term miscarriage refers to the loss of an intrauterine pregnancy visualized by histology or ultrasonography up to 20-24 weeks of gestation [32]. Given that endometrium is the first place where maternal immune system comes into direct contact with fetal cells, endometrial immune perturbation has been proposed as a detrimental

factor in the onset of miscarriage, especially the recurrent miscarriage (RM) [33]. RM, denotes the loss of two or more pregnancies, affects nearly 1–2% of couples attempting to conceive, is one of the most frustrating and challenging areas in reproductive medicine [34]. Current evidence-based diagnostic and treatment strategies for RM are limited since more than half of the cases remain unexplained [32].

A recent meta-analysis shows that CD56+ uNK level is significantly higher in the endometrium of women suffering unexplained RM (uRM) compared with controls, while there is no significant difference regarding the pregnancy outcome in uRM patients stratified by uNK level [35]. uNK cells isolated from uRM patients are found to produce more angiogenic factors including VEGF-A and angiogenin, and have a predisposition to secrete pro-inflammatory Th1-type cytokines (like IFN- γ and TNF- α) while dampening anti-inflammatory Th2-type cytokines (like IL-4 and IL-10) which are crucial in maintaining healthy pregnancy [36, 37]. Hypoxic environment is favorable for the trophoblasts invasion, therefore, excessive angiogenic activity induced by the high level of uNK cells in uRM might induce premature blood flow at the implantation site, which incurs oxidative stress and subsequent cellular injury to the fetal trophoblasts [38, 39]. On the other hand, prominently lower levels of inhibitory receptors such as KIR2DL1/4 and NKG2A are noted in uRM, which may contribute to the overactivation of uNK cells [40-42].

It has been reported that percentages of M1 macrophages are significantly higher in both follicular and luteal phases than in pregnancy, and conversely, much higher M2 macrophages is observed in pregnancy than in menstrual cycles, suggesting that progesterone may drive the M2 macrophages polarization in maintaining healthy pregnancy [43]. Excessive decidual M1 macrophages found in the early pregnancy (prior to 10 weeks) has been related to the occurrence of uRM [43]. Also, the expression of IL-10 is significantly decreased while costimulatory molecules CD80 and CD86 are increased in decidual macrophages from uRM, suggesting the aberrant macrophage regulation capacity [44, 45]. As discussed above, DCs play key roles in inducing maternal tolerance as well as decidualization and angiogenesis, depletion of DCs interferes implantation and leads to embryo resorption in a transgenic mouse model [46]. In uRM patients, tolerogenic DCs are found to be significantly reduced in the mid-luteal phase endometrium [47].

Both predominant Th1 and shifted Th2 immunity have been documented to be associated with uRM, suggesting that the conventional hypothesis of Th1/Th2 balance is insufficient to explain immune mechanisms underlying pregnancy [48-50]. Later investigation of the Treg and Th17 cell subsets expands our knowledge of the immune enigma at the fetomaternal interface [27]. Women with uRM demonstrate higher ratio of Th17/CD4+ Treg cell and a greater proportion of Th17 cells and associated IL-17A in the peripheral blood during proliferative and secretory phases than those fertile controls, on the other hand, Treg cells and related cytokines IL-10 and TGF- β 1 are significantly reduced [51, 52]. In mice, depletion of CD4+CD25+ Treg cells leads to miscarriages and the adoptive transfer of Treg cells from pregnant mice prevent miscarriage in abortion-prone mice of the same strain [53, 54]. Therefore, the imbalance in Th17/Treg cell immunity may deteriorate ongoing pregnancy. The transcription factor forkhead box P3 (FOXP3) is crucial for Tregs development, accumulating evidence shows that there is reduced FOXP3 expression in peripheral blood as well as decidua and increased occurrence of FOXP3 single nucleotide polymorphisms in uRM patients compared with control women, which may hamper the Tregs function and lead to subsequent uRM [55-57].

Collectively, these data indicate the pivotal role of impaired endometrial immune function in the pathogenesis of uRM. While considering the complex interactions among these immune cells and cytokines in the endometrial immune milieu, it is currently not easy for us to fully understand the roles of any single cell or molecule in early pregnancy. Further investigations by using novel research techniques like single cell RNA sequencing might be helpful in deciphering their specific role in physiological and pathological pregnancies.

4.1.3 Hyper-receptive endometrium in recurrent miscarriage

Early embryonic development and gamete formation in humans are marked by poor chromosome segregation [58]. It is estimated that around 50% of human embryos are perished during pregnancy, especially prior to the blastocyst stage, which is largely ascribed to a high prevalence of embryo genetic instability [59, 60]. The biological significance and evolutionary advantages of these common aneuploidy and mosaicism in human embryos are still elusive. Nevertheless, many studies propose that ingenious maternal strategies have evolved to cope discerningly with genomically unstable blastocysts limiting inappropriate investment in invasive, but low competent embryos [60-62]. An emerging concept posits that the properly decidualized endometrium plays a key role in embryo biosensing and selection, which process might be disrupted in uRM [63-65].

The first experimental study indicating the biosensor function of decidualized endometrium at implantation comes from Teklenburg and colleagues, demonstrating that coculture with an arresting human embryo triggered a strong inhibition on the production of key implantation mediators in human endometrial stromal cells (ESCs), including IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, and heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor (HB-EGF) [61]. They also deciphered that an endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress is induced in human decidual cells by developmentally compromised embryos in contrast to favorable metabolic enzymes and implantation factors activated by competent embryos [62]. Collectively, these distinct positive and negative mechanisms render active embryos selection ability to the decidual endometrium at implantation.

The hypothesis that endometrial selectivity to embryo quality may be impaired in uRM is supported by several robust in vitro evidence [60, 65, 66], and in agreement with clinical observation that many women with uRM report exceptionally high pregnancy rates [64, 67, 68]. In other words, rather than reject viable embryos, uRM patients are more fertile or hyper-receptive toward the implanting embryos that are destined to fail than healthy women. Under in vitro decidualization, ESCs from uRM

patients manifest reduced level of decidual marker prolactin (PRL) and prolonged production of prokineticin 1 (PROK1), a pro-implantation cytokine, which might lead to the enhanced uterine receptivity, but attenuated embryo selection underpins uRM [64, 66]. Furthermore, the ESCs from uRM have a higher migratory potential in response to trophoblast spheroids and are unable to discriminate between high- and low-quality embryos [65]. In parallel, clinical evidence arise from the observation of the higher monthly fecundity rate (MFR) and shorter time-to-pregnancy (TTP) in uRM women than the controls [66, 68]. MFR refers to the probability of conception during a menstrual cycle, the mean MFR in humans ranges between 20%–30%, which is not impressive compared with other mammalian species [60, 64]. Salker et al. reported that 40% uRM women are superfertile with MFR >60% [66]. Moreover, despite the higher maternal age of uRM women, TTP is significantly shorter in uRM than in normal women [68].

Earlier study also found that the expression of anti-adhesion molecule mucin 1 (MUC1), which contributes to the barrier function of uterine epithelium, is lower in the endometrium of uRM women than controls [69]. Selective remove of MUC1 facilitates the implantation in the immediate vicinity of an attaching embryo, thus reduced MUC1 impedes the continuous surface mucin barrier, which might contribute to increased receptivity in uRM [63, 69]. However, there are multiple studies challenge this hypothesis by showing no significant difference of MUC1 expression in the endometrium between uRM and normal controls [70, 71]. Since MUC1 also works as a carrier protein of many adhesion molecules (like sialyl Lewis antigens that will be discussed in next chapter) capable of mediating cell-cell interaction [72], and regulates chemokine secretion [73], a comprehensive understanding of MUC1 function during embryo implantation will have to await more investigations.

4.2 Carbohydrate Lewis antigens

Carbohydrates are remarkably diverse glycans that locate on the surface of every cell

and most secreted macromolecules in the human body [74]. Glycosylation refers to the dynamic process that glycoconjugates are formed though adding sugars to proteins and lipids, conferring the structural and functional complexity to these glycoproteins and glycolipids [75]. Fucose (Fuc), galactose (Gal), N-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc), glucose (Glc), glucuronic acid (GlcA), N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc), iduronic acid (IdoA), mannose (Man), sialic acid (Neu5Ac) and xylose (Xyl) are the ten basic monosaccharides that responsible for the construction of glycans in humans, which are assembled in a stepwise manner in ER and Golgi apparatus under the catalytic effect of specific enzymes (glycosyltransferases and glycosidases) [74].

4.2.1 Classification and synthesis

Lewis antigens are terminal fucosylated carbohydrates that belong to the human Lewis histo-blood group family [76], they are generally divided into two types based on different glycosidic bonds: type I (Gal β 1,3GlcNAc) includes sialyl Lewis A (sLeA), Lewis A/B (LeA/B), and H1 antigen; type II (Gal β 1,4GlcNAc) includes sialyl Lewis X (sLeX), Lewis X/Y (LeX/Y), and H2 antigen, as shown in Figure 1. The synthesis of Lewis antigens relies on the sequential addition of fucose and sialic acid catalyzed by fucosyltransferases (FUTs) and α 2,3 sialyltransferases (STs), respectively, while neuraminidases (NEUs) -namely sialidases- facilitate the removal of sialic acids from sLeA/X [76-80] generating LeA/X (Figure 1).

Fucose, a natural deoxyhexose sugar and the common component of many O- and N-linked glycans, is widely present in various organisms [81]. Fucosylation refers to the incorporation of a fucose residue from donor guanosine-diphosphate (GDP)-fucose into glycan chains on cell surface glycoproteins and glycolipids [82, 83]. To date, 13 FUTs have been well characterized in humans and defined into 4 families based on the site of fucose addition: $\alpha 1, 2$ (FUT1/2), $\alpha 1, 3/4$ (FUTs3-7 and 9-11), $\alpha 1, 6$ (core fucosylation, FUT8), and O-fucosylation (POFUT1/2) [84-89]. The former 3 subfamilies of FUTs are transmembrane Golgi-anchored proteins while O-fucosylation FUTs are soluble proteins locate in the ER [90-93]. $\alpha 1, 2$ and $\alpha 1, 3/4$ FUTs are involved

in the last steps of synthesis of carbohydrate Lewis antigens in humans (Figure 1). FUTs3-7 and 9-11 all possess the α 1,3 activity, but FUT3 and FUT5 also have α 1,4 activity conferred by the extended stem region, also hypervariable region, of the membrane proteins [94-96].

Sialic acids are the most important sugar besides glucose in the human body and are frequently found on the non-reducing distal end of glycan chains [97]. The metabolism of sialic acid requires enzymes that catalyze the addition (by STs) as well as removal and degradation (by NEUs) of Neu5Ac to/from a glycoconjugate [98]. In humans, there are 20 STs which can be classified into four families according to the different linkage type and preferential sialylation activity: beta-galactoside alpha-2,3-sialyltransferases (ST3GAL1-6, transferring Neu5Ac to the 3-OH of Gal residues), beta-galactoside alpha-2,6-sialyltransferases (ST6GAL1/2, adding Neu5Ac to the 6-OH of Gal residues), GalNAc alpha-2,6-sialyltransferases (ST6GAL1/2, adding Neu5Ac to the 6-OH of Gal residues), GalNAc residues), and alpha-N-acetyl-neuraminide alpha-2,8-sialyltransferases (ST8SIA1-6, adding Neu5Ac to the 8-OH of another Neu5Ac residue) [99-101]. Each ST catalyzes the sialylation of specific substrate structures, for example, ST3GAL3, ST3GAL4 and ST3GAL6 are potentially involved in the synthesis of sLeA and sLeX on glycoproteins and glycolipids [78, 102, 103], while ST6GAL1 contributes to the sialylation of β1 integrin [104].

So far, 4 neuraminidases have been described in different cellular localizations in mammals: NEU1 in the lysosome, NEU2 in the cytosol, NEU3 in the plasma membrane, and NEU4 in the mitochondrial membrane or lysosome [105-108]. Researchers found that the sialic acids released from sialylated glycoconjugates could be reused in the biosynthesis process [109]. The balance between sialic acid addition and removal plays a crucial role in many physio- and pathophysiological events [110, 111].



Figure 1. Biosynthesis pathway of Lewis antigens. FUTs, fucosyltransferases. STs, sialyltransferases. NEUs, neuraminidases. Gal, galactose. GlcNAc, N-acetylglucosamine.

4.2.2 Physiological functions

A. Distribution

LeX is widely distributed in many tissues including leukocytes, brain, and gastrointestinal tract [112-116]. The expression of LeY, also known as CD174, in normal tissues is relatively low, it has been detected in blood (erythrocytes and granulocytes), on epithelial cells from the esophagus and stomach, salivary glands and the Paneth cells in duodenum, and scattered cells from the pancreas, tonsils, and testes [117]. In parallel, substantial amounts of LeX and LeY antigens are also found in human seminal plasma and on the surface of sperm [118, 119]. sLeA, also termed CA19-9 antigen, is predominantly expressed on normal fibroblasts, luminal epithelial cells, and

some parenchymatous cells [120, 121], while monocytes and neutrophils usually carry sLeX on their surfaces, which cause them to extravasate to the inflammation sites [122, 123]. In the cycling endometrium, staining of Lewis epitopes are found on the apical membranes of epithelial cells, highest levels of LeX appear in the early- to mid-proliferative phases, while LeY, sLeA, and sLeX are strongly upregulated in the secretory phase [72, 124]. Normal individuals may have high levels of CA19-9 with tea consumption [125, 126].

B. Sperm-egg binding and embryo implantation

During mammalian sperm-egg binding, egg-binding protein (EBP) expressed on the sperm plasma membrane interacts with carbohydrate sequences carried by glycoproteins of the egg's zona pellucida (ZP) [127, 128]. In murine fertilization, LeX was found to be potentially involved in regulating sperm to ZP binding [129]. sLeX is the dominant antenna sequence on the N- and O-glycans attached to human ZP, it's density is more than two orders of magnitude higher than that on somatic cells [130]. Early studies reported the reaction of antibodies against sLeA, sLeX, and LeB epitopes with human ZP [131, 132], Pang et al. further deciphered that only sLeX is expressed at physico-chemically confirmable levels on ZP, the sLeX sequence is the major carbohydrate ligand mediates the sperm-ZP binding [133]. During the window of receptivity, the interaction between strongly upregulated sLeX on the human endometrial epithelial cells and the L-selectin expressed on the trophoblast is critical for the embryo implantation [134].

C. Embryogenesis

LeX, also known as the stage specific embryonic antigen-1 (SSEA-1), was primarily found as a marker of embryonic stem cells in mouse and primordial germ cells in human [135, 136]. In the early stage of mouse embryogenesis, soluble molecules carrying LeX facilitate the decompaction of morula between the end of cleavage and formation of blastocyst [137, 138]. In early human embryogenesis, LeX is preferentially expressed in organ buds progressing in mesenchyme due to the mainly detected α 1,3 FUTs gene

transcripts FUT4 and FUT9, which might stimulate the cell-cell interactions allowing the organ buds to grow and branch [139, 140].

D. Nervous system

LeX is temporally and region-specifically expressed in the central nervous system of humans, which participate in the neurite outgrowth, cell–cell interaction, and neuronal migration during development [141, 142]. In mice brain, LeX synthesis is dominantly catalyzed by FUT9, while fully devoid expression of LeX by knocking out Fut9 gene resulted in no gross phenotypic abnormalities except increased emotional anxiety-like behaviors [143]. Also, LeX has been used as a surface marker to select and analyze neural stem cells [144].

4.2.3 In cancer progression

Aberrant glycosylation characterized with overexpressed Lewis antigens along with pertinent FUTs and STs is a hallmark of many types of cancers like lung, breast, hepatocellular, gastrointestinal, renal, and bladder carcinomas, which is frequently associated with cancer progression and poor prognosis [76, 145, 146]. Interestingly, the expression levels of individual STs prominently vary between different types of cancers and even within tumors of the same origin [147, 148].

A. Metastasis and angiogenesis

Tumor metastasis and angiogenesis are two cardinal features during cancer progression. Hematogenous metastasis of cancer is facilitated by the interactions between cancer cells and endothelial cells in distant tissues, in which Lewis antigens expressed on cancer cells are playing a dominant role [146]. Selectins, including E-, P-, and Lselectin, are C-type lectins that favour leukocytes rolling on the vascular endothelium during acute inflammation [149]. Cancer-related epitopes sLeA and sLeX are major selectin ligands, interactions between selectins and sLeA/X promote the formation of circulating emboli containing tumor cells, leukocytes, and platelets, which further extravasate through trans-endothelial migration, which is crucial during metastasis [150]. Numerous studies have reported that downregulation of sLeA/X expression by key glycosyltransferases knockdown in different cancer cell lines resulted in reduced selectin binding and metastatic ability, and vice versa [78, 103, 151-153]. In vivo experiment showed that the formation of pulmonary metastases could be inhibited by peptides mimicking sLeA and was completely abolished in E-selectin knockout mice [154]. Besides, LeX expressed on non-small cell lung cancer cells can also interact with TNF- α induced E-selectin on brain endothelial cells, promoting the attachment and interplay between these two types of cells and facilitating cerebral metastasis, which is in the same manner as sLeX [155, 156].

Although less appreciated, compared with the well-established roles in cancer metastasis, compelling evidence indicates that Lewis antigens are integral to the process of angiogenesis. An example illustrating this concept is that anti-sLeA/X antibodies could markedly inhibit the in vitro tube formation of murine endothelial cells (F-2) induced by the co-culture with human epidermoid cancer cells (A431), and reduce the in vivo A431 tumor size in nude rats [157]. Mathieu et al. found that FUT1-transduced hepatocarcinoma cells HepG2, which sLeX synthesis is strongly inhibited, showed remarkable defect in tumor vascularization [158]. On the other hand, transfection colon cancer cell line HCT-15 with β3Gal-T5 cDNA, generating sLeA, resulted in enhanced angiogenesis and tumor growth [159]. Furthermore, TNF-a induced FUT1 and consequently enhanced LeY expression in endothelial cells are involved in early events during tumor angiogenesis, which may explain the upregulation of cell surface LeY displayed in the tumor-infiltrated capillaries [160]. And using LeY saccharide mimetic inhibited the endothelial functions as well as in vitro angiogenesis [161]. Altogether, these results suggest that multiple Lewis antigens facilitate the tumor angiogenesis, regardless of the underlying carbohydrate structure.

B. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT)

The EMT is a biological process that allows polarized epithelial cells acquire the mesenchymal phenotypes, which has been widely acknowledged as a critical feature of

cancer malignancy associated with enhanced invasiveness and migratory capacity [162]. During this process, a number of distinct molecular events are engaged, including activation of transcriptional factors like ZEB1/2, SNAIL1/2, and TWIST; expression of specific mesenchymal cell surface proteins like Fibronectin, N-cadherin, and Vimentin; and production of extracellular matrix (ECM)-degrading enzymes like matrix metalloproteinases MMP-2, MMP-3, and MMP-9 [162]. The association between Lewis antigens and EMT has been addressed in many studies [77, 163-165]. Epidermal growth factor (EGF) and basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) are known EMT inducers, colon cancer cells DLD-1 and HT-29 treated with EGF and/or bFGF exhibited significantly elevated transcript levels of ST3GAL1/3/4 and FUT3 along with increased cell surface sLeA/X expression resulting in enhanced E-selectin binding activity [77]. Similarly, FUT6 was found to be involved in the TGF- β induced colorectal cancer EMT through fucosylation of TGF-B receptors and upregulation of sLeA/X expression facilitating the tumor cells invasion and migration [163]. Also, FUT4 promotes the EMT of breast cancer cells by activating the PI3K/Akt and NF-κB signaling systems, in which key mediators SNAIL and MMP-9 are induced [164]. Studies with ovarian cancer cell line RMG-1 found that LeY promotes the cell metastasis by upregulating MMP-2/9 and downregulating tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases 1/2 (TIMP1/2) [165].

C. Cancer stemness

Cancer stem cells (CSCs), also referred to as tumor-initiating cells, are a subpopulation of cells within the tumor endowed with increased self-renewal capacity and enhanced ability to generate heterogeneous lineage of cells, CSC enrichment is directly linked to tumor metastasis, recurrence, and treatment failure [166]. Elevated fucosylation has been found as a common glycan change in pancreatic and head and neck cancer CSC-like cells, indicating its potential role as a therapeutic target [167, 168]. In head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC), expression of sLeX in membrane-bounded and secreted soluble forms are predominantly detected in carcinomas originating from

cases with developed metastasis and recurrence, the co-expression analysis of sLeX and CSC markers CD44/ALDH (aldehyde dehydrogenase) shows strong overlap in floating orospheres [169]. CSCs derived from human glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) were reported to be enriched for LeX, LeX+ cells are highly tumorigenic in vivo and a secondary tumor with the same characteristics as its primary counterpart could be successively generated [170]. Interestingly, LeX was also proposed to be an important marker for CSCs in medulloblastoma [171]. Two fucosylated antigens LeY and H2 antigen have been reported to be carried by CD44 molecule, a known CSC marker, in three breast cancer cell lines, suggesting their potential role as markers of early progenitors of breast carcinomas [172]. Given the wide distribution of overexpressed Lewis epitopes in solid and blood malignancies, their functional roles related to cancer stemness merit further investigations.

4.2.4 As cancer biomarkers

As discussed above, upregulated carbohydrate Lewis antigens have been detected in various types of cancers, they are currently being extensively investigated as potential tumor biomarkers for cancer detection and evaluation of treatment efficacy. sLeA, more well-known as CA19-9, is the best validated and most routinely used serum biomarker for pancreatic cancer [173], the median sensitivity and specificity in diagnosis is 79% and 82%, respectively [174]. In addition, combination of sLeX and sLeA could provide a higher accuracy for detecting pancreatic carcinoma [175]. Low level of postoperative sLeA is associated with an improved prognosis for patients with resected pancreatic cancer and elevation of sLeA during surveillance is an early and strong predictor for the recurrence [176-179]. Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) and carbohydrate antigen 125 (CA-125) are also well established cancer biomarkers [180, 181]. CEA is a glycoprotein expressed during embryonal development, it has been utilized to monitor the tumor progression and predict the recurrence [180]. Huang et al. found tumor CEA proteins contain high levels of sLeX, which is in agreement with previous study that sLeX was identified as a cancer marker in colon cancer [182, 183]. CA-125 has been

serving as the biomarker in ovarian cancer screening for decades, enhanced level of CA-125 carried LeY epitopes after surgery or chemotherapy is associated with poor prognosis and risk of recurrence [181, 184].

4.2.5 As targets of cancer vaccines and therapeutics

Given that aberrant glycans modification is one of the typical hallmarks of several malignancies, and recent successes in cancer vaccines as well as in monoclonal antibody cancer immunotherapy, the development of anticancer preventive and therapeutic treatments targeting cancer-associated Lewis antigens is of great promise and potential [145].

Several studies have reported the potential of LeX as a therapeutic target in different ways. Two monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) FG88.2 and FG88.7, produced by immunizing BALB/c mice with plasma membrane lipid extracts of colorectal cancer COLO205 cells, targeting coexisted LeA-LeX and di-LeA antigens on cancer cells demonstrated excellent in vitro pan-tumor cytotoxicity and effective in vivo antitumor efficacy [185]. A chimeric mouse/human IgG1 mAb counterpart CH88.2 with refined LeA and LeX trisaccharide was further investigated and showed great potential in gastrointestinal tumor imaging [186, 187].

Initial attempt concerning LeY antigen was made for the treatment of ovarian cancer patients using LeY-keyhole limpet hemocyanin (KLH) conjugated vaccine along with the QS-21 immunological adjuvant [188]. The vaccine was well tolerated with no adverse effects related to autoimmunity observed; sera assessment of vaccinated patients showed that the majority produced anti-LeY antibodies with strong anti-tumor cell reactivity and complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC), while no clinical response was indicated. Another approach by Westwood and colleagues demonstrated that genetically redirected T cells, which normally do not identify LeY antigen, could cause cytokine secretion and cytolysis in response to high LeY+ ovarian tumor OVCAR3 cells [189]. More recently, peptide-based vaccine P10s, a pan-HLA-DR-binding epitope (PADRE) fused peptide that mimics LeY, has shown enhanced

immunogenicity and possible clinical benefits for stage IV breast cancer subjects in an early clinical study [190].

Ragupathi et al. firstly designed the sLeA-KLH conjugate plus GPI-0100 vaccine, which could induce mice generate high titer IgM and IgG antibodies that mediate potent CDC against sLeA+ human SW626 (adenocarcinoma cell line) and DMS79 (small cell lung cancer cell line) cells [120]. Later on, they generated two fully human mAbs (7E3 and 5B1) with high affinity for sLeA from the blood lymphocytes of patients immunized with the sLeA-KLH vaccine [191]. 7E3 showed high level of CDC against DMS79 cells, while 5B1 displayed strong antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity activity on DMS79 cells and is currently under clinical trials evaluation [192, 193]. More recently, Weitzenfeld et al. reported that re-engineering the Fc portion of antibodies derived from patients immunized with an sLeA/KLH vaccines could broadly increase their affinity for activating Fcγ receptors, leading to enhanced therapeutic effects [194].

4.3 Modulation of cytokines on the expression of carbohydrate Lewis antigens

It is now becoming clear that the cytokine-mediated inflammatory microenvironment is an indispensable factor contributing to the neoplastic process in many diseases, altered glycosylation is also found to be modulated by multiple cytokines through specific glycosyltransferases that responsible for the cell surface Lewis antigens biosynthesis [195]. TNF- α is one of the mostly investigated cytokines, it has been found to prominently increase the synthesis of sLeA and/or sLeX in colon (COLO205), lung (QG-95), gastric (AGS), and pancreatic (MDPanc-3) carcinoma cells by inducing the enzyme activities of several α 2,3 STs and α 1,3/4 FUTs, induced LeY expression is also noticed in MDPanc-3 cells [196-198]. Likewise, IL-1 β treatment significantly increases sLeX expression in both human hepatoma-derived HuH-7 cells and pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cell line MDAPanc-28, and mildly enhance sLeA and LeX in gastric cancer KATOIII cells but does not reach significance [198-200]. Early study also reported that IL-8 could induce sLeA expression in human liver (HuCC-T1) and pancreatic cancer cells (HuP-T4) and promoted these cells binding to the human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs), while the underlying mechanisms were not fully deciphered [201]. Groux-Degroote and co-workers have carried out a set of experiments concerning cytokines effect on Lewis epitopes expression in human bronchial mucosa, demonstrating that TNF- α could drive sLeX synthesis through enhancing the transferase activities and transcript levels of FUT3/4 and ST3GAL3/4, IL-6 and IL-8 increased sLeX expression by upregulating FUT3 and ST3GAL6 [202, 203]. Later, they found that MSK1/2 (mitogen- and stress-activated kinase 1/2) mediated the TNF- α induced upregulation of ST3GAL4 BX transcript isoform through the ERK (extracellular-signal-regulated kinase) and p38 MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinase) pathways [204, 205]. More recently, IL-22 was found to modulate the expression of B3GNT7, a β 1,3-N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase, which alone is sufficient to promote LeX expression in human intestinal epithelium [206].

Though most researchers reported stimulated effect of cytokines on Lewis antigens expression, studies in QG-95 and KATOIII cells found no modulatory impact of IL-1 β on sLeX expression [197, 198], MKN45 gastric cancer cells even exhibited a decreased expression level of sLeX after IL-1 β or IL-6 stimulation [207]. These conflicting results suggest that the modulatory impacts of cytokines on Lewis antigens expression may considerably differ among diverse cell types.

Till now, whether and how pro-inflammatory cytokines influence the Lewis antigens expression during embryo implantation and in the pathogenesis of miscarriages have not been fully elucidated.

4.4 Aim of the study

Aberrant glycosylation frequently contributes to the progression of tumor metastasis, the crucial roles of Lewis antigens have been extensively investigated in various cancers.

It is evident that regulated glycosylation is essential for human gamete binding and embryo implantation, while its involvement in the pathogenesis of miscarriages is still elusive. Our studies were carried out to decipher the expression pattern and functional significances of carbohydrate Lewis antigens in the placenta of women suffering unexplained miscarriages. Specifically, Paper I aimed to reveal the dysregulated 1) glycosylation and inflammatory response at the fetal side-placental villi from uRM patients through Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA), and 2) the Lewis antigens expression by immunohistochemical (IHC) and immunofluorescent (IF) staining, to determine whether glycosylation alterations and aberrant inflammatory response are involved in the pathogenesis of unexplained miscarriages; Paper II focused on the maternal side-decidua aimed to demonstrate the aberrant expression of Lewis antigens and pertinent glycosyltransferases (FUTs, α 2,3 STs, and NEU1) using the same IHC and IF techniques, and elucidate the underlying mechanisms of hyper-receptive endometrium in uRM through an in vitro implantation model.

5. Publication I

frontiers in Immunology

ORIGINAL RESEARCH published: 31 May 2021 doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.679424



Expression of the Carbohydrate Lewis Antigen, Sialyl Lewis A, Sialyl Lewis X, Lewis X, and Lewis Y in the Placental Villi of Patients With Unexplained Miscarriages

Zhi Ma¹, Huixia Yang¹, Lin Peng¹, Christina Kuhn², Anca Chelariu-Raicu¹, Sven Mahner¹, Udo Jeschke^{1,2*} and Viktoria von Schönfeldt¹

Background: Lewis antigens such as Sialyl Lewis A (sLeA), Sialyl Lewis X (sLeX), Lewis X

(LeX), and Lewis Y (LeY) are a class of carbohydrate molecules that are known to mediate

adhesion between tumor cells and endothelium by interacting with its selectin ligands.

However, their potential role in miscarriage remains enigmatic. This study aims to analyze

the expression pattern of sLeA, sLeX, LeX, and LeY in the placental villi tissue of patients

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University Hospital LMU Munich, Munich, Germany, ² Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University Hospital Augsburg, Augsburg, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Maria Emilia Solano, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany

Reviewed by:

Gerard Chaouat, INSERM U976 Immunologie, Dermatologie, Oncologie, France Claudia Perez Leiros, University of Buenos Aires, Argentina

*Correspondence:

Udo Jeschke Udo.Jeschke@uk-augsburg.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 11 March 2021 Accepted: 10 May 2021 Published: 31 May 2021

Citation:

Ma Z, Yang H, Peng L, Kuhn C, Chelariu-Raicu A, Mahner S, Jeschke U and von Schönfeldt V (2021) Expression of the Carbohydrate Lewis Antigen, Sialy/ Lewis A, Sialy/ Lewis X, Lewis X, and Lewis Y in the Placental Villi of Patients With Unexplained Miscarriages. Front. Immunol. 12:679424. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.679424 with a medical history of unexplained miscarriages. **Methods:** Paraffin-embedded slides originating from placental tissue were collected from patients experiencing a miscarriage early in their pregnancy (6–13 weeks). Tissues collected from spontaneous (n = 20) and recurrent (n = 15) miscarriages were analyzed using immunohistochemical and immunofluorescent staining. Specimens obtained from legally terminated normal pregnancies were considered as control group (n = 18). Assessment of villous vessel density was performed in another cohort (n = 10 each group) of gestation ages-paired placenta tissue. Protein expression was evaluated with Immunoreactive Score (IRS). Statistical analysis was performed by using Graphpad Prism 8.

Results: Expression of sLeA, sLeX, LeX, and LeY in the syncytiotrophoblast was significantly upregulated in the control group compared with spontaneous and recurrent miscarriage groups. However, no prominent differences between spontaneous and recurrent miscarriage groups were identified. Potential key modulators ST3GAL6 and NEU1 were found to be significantly downregulated in the recurrent miscarriage group and upregulated in the spontaneous group, respectively. Interestingly, LeX and LeY expression was also detected in the endothelial cells of villous vessels in the control group but no significant expression in miscarriage groups. Furthermore, assessment of villous vessel density using CD31 found significantly diminished vessels in all size groups of vill (small villi <200 μ m, P = 0.00371; middle villi between 200 and 400 μ m, P = 0.0010 and large villi >400 μ m, P = 0.0003.

Lewis Antigens in Miscarriages

Conclusions: The expression of four mentioned carbohydrate Lewis antigens and their potential modulators, ST3GAL6 and NEU1, in the placenta of patients with miscarriages was significantly different from the normal pregnancy. For the first time, their expression pattern in the placenta was illustrated, which might shed light on a novel understanding of Lewis antigens' role in the pathogenesis of miscarriages.

Keywords: Lewis antigen, ST3GAL6, NEU1, villous vessel, unexplained miscarriage

INTRODUCTION

Miscarriage is the most common complication of pregnancy, which affects around 9-20% of clinically confirmed pregnancies. In addition, if biochemical loss due to implantation failure is considered, this rate can reach up to 50% (1). The establishment of a healthy pregnancy implies interaction between the embryonal structure and endometrium. Any alterations within this process may trigger miscarriages: chromosomal errors, anatomical uterine defects, autoimmune dysregulations, and endometrial abnormality. Prior studies have shown that more than 50% of cases of miscarriages are associated with the abovementioned alterations, however the remaining causes are unexplained (2). According to the guidelines of the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology (ESHRE) and the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM), recurrent miscarriage (RM) is defined as the failure of two or more clinically confirmed pregnancies, excluding ectopic and molar pregnancies (3, 4). The average prevalence of recurrent miscarriage is estimated to be between 1 and 4% (1). Most miscarriages, including spontaneous or recurrent events, occur in the first trimester of pregnancy (5).

Lewis antigens are series of carbohydrate epitopes with terminal fucosylation (6). According to different glycosidic bonds, Lewis antigens are classified as type I [H1 antigen, Lewis A (LeA), Lewis B (LeB) and Sialyl Lewis A (sLeA)] and type II [H2 antigen, Lewis X (LeX), Lewis Y (LeY) and Sialyl Lewis X (sLeX)], as shown in **Figure 1**. Lewis antigens are known to mediate adhesion between tumor cells and endothelium by

interacting with their selectin ligands. Furthermore, upregulated expression of Lewis antigens has been reported in many types of cancers (7). More recently, it was showed that Lewis epitopes are also involved in early embryogenesis and later development of the pregnancy. Specifically, sLeX participates in the process of sperm–zona pellucida binding (8). During the menstrual cycle, the expression of sLeX in the human endometrium is temporally regulated, reaching the highest level during embryo implantation (9). LeY was also shown to be involved in a cellular model of trophoblast attachment to the epithelium (10). Given the involvement of Lewis antigens and their selectin ligands in the initial steps in implantation (11), we speculate that Lewis antigens may also have potential significance in the pathogenesis of miscarriages.

METHODS

Patient

Placenta samples of recurrent miscarriages (RM, n = 15), spontaneous miscarriages (SM, n = 20), and normal pregnancies (NC, n = 18) were chosen from the tissue bank of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology of LMU Munich. The details including both patients' inclusion and exclusion criteria and the process of samples acquisition have been described in our previous work (12). **Supplementary Figure 1** reflects the gestational ages distribution in different groups of samples. **Table 1** summarizes the demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population.



Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

2

May 2021 | Volume 12 | Article 679424

Lewis Antigens in Miscarriages

Characteristics	Normal Control n = 18	Recurrent Miscarriage n = 15	Spontaneous Miscarriage n = 20	P valu
Maternal age (years)	31.28 ± 6.03 (21-43)	34.60 ± 5.96 (22-42)	34.35 ± 4.72 (26-42)	0.14
Gestational age (weeks)	9.04 ± 1.90 (6-13)	9.65 ± 1.66 (7-12)	9.45 ± 1.54 (6-12)	0.57
Gravidity	3.28 ± 1.67 (1-6)	3.27 ± 1.34 (2-6)	$1.60 \pm 0.82 (1-4)$	0.0002
Parity	$1.15 \pm 1.10 (0-4)$	0.80 ± 0.94 (0-3)	0.45 ± 0.76 (0-3)	0.003

Values are presented as Mean \pm S.D.; the range is shown in parentheses.

Gene Expression and Network Analysis

Enrichment of glycosylation and inflammatory response related signatures in RM patients were demonstrated by Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) (13) using two gene sets (GO_GLYCOSYLATION, GO:0070085 and HALLMARK_INFLAMMATORY_RESPONSE, M5932) and GSE76862 (14), The functional enrichment was carried out by using the GSEA method based on the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) analyses with the clusterProfiler package of R (P < 0.05 and FDR <0.25). To define the possible crosstalk of glycosylation with immune and adhesion process, differentially regulated GO_GLYCOSYLATION genes in RM were extracted and processed with a web-based tool of Metascape (https://metascape.org) (15) to get significantly enriched Gene Ontology (GO) biological processes and pathways network visualization.

Immunohistochemistry

Paraffin-embedded slides of placenta tissue were dewaxed in xylol for 20 min and rinsed with 100% ethanol for the staining process. For inhibition of the endogen peroxidase reaction, slides were incubated in methanol with 3% H₂O₂ for 20 min followed by rehydration in descending ethanol gradients. Slides were then heated in a pressure pot containing a sodium citrate buffer (pH = 6.0), which consisted of 0.1 mM sodium citrate and 0.1 mM citric acid in distilled water. After cooling in distilled water and rinsing twice in PBS, all slides were incubated with a blocking solution (Reagent 1, ZytoChem Plus HRP Polymer System (mouse/rabbit), Zytomed Berlin, Germany) for 5 min to avoid non-specific binding.

Primary antibody incubation of every slide was performed for 16 h at 4° C, details are shown in **Table 2**. PBS (pH = 7.4) washing

was applied between each step. Subsequently, 20 min incubation with post block (Reagent 2) and 30 min with HRP polymer (Reagent 3) were done according to the manufacturer's protocol. Immunostaining was visualized with the DAB chromogensubstrate staining system (Dako, Denmark), the reaction was stopped with distilled water. Slides were counterstained with Hemalaun for 2 min, blued in tap water for 5 min, and rehydrated in an ascending ethanol gradient. Finally, all tissue slides were covered with Eukitt[®] quick hardening mounting medium (Sigma Aldrich, USA). Negative controls were performed by replacing the primary antibodies with certain species-specific isotype control antibodies (Dako).

The staining results were analyzed under the microscope Leitz (Wetzlar, Germany; Type 307-148.001 514686) by two independent observers. Intensity and distribution patterns of antigens' expression were evaluated with immunoreactive score (IRS), the semi-quantitative score is calculated as the optical staining intensity (grades: 0 = none, 1 = weak, 2 = moderate, 3 = strong staining) multiplied by the total percentage of positively stained cells (0 = none, 1 ≤ 10%, 2 = 11–50%, 3 = 51–80% and 4 ≥ 81% of the cells). This multiplication has a minimum of 0 and a maximum of 12.

Immunofluorescence

To identify the expression pattern of LeX and LeY in the endothelial cells of villous vessels, double immunofluorescence staining was performed in the specimens of healthy controls. All used antibodies are listed in **Table 2**. CD31 was used as a specific marker for endothelial cells. The same experimental steps were carried out as for immunohistochemistry until the step of blocking: slides were blocked with Ultra V Block solution (Lab Vision, USA) for 15 min and then incubated with specific

Antibody	Isotype	Clone	Dilution	DAB time	Source
sLeA	Mouse IgG	Monoclonal	1:80 in PBS	30 s	Calbiochem
sLeX	Mouse IgM	Monoclonal	1:200 in PBS	5 min	BD Pharmingen
LeX	Mouse IgM	Monoclonal	1:200 in PBS	5 min	Novocastra
LeY	Mouse IgM	Monoclonal	1:50 in PBS	6 min	LSBio
CD31	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	1:50 in PBS	1 min	Abcam
Cy2	Goat IgG anti Mouse	Polyclonal	1:100 in Dako Antibody Diluent	-	Dianova
СуЗ	Goat IgG anti Rabbit	Polyclonal	1:500 in Dako Antibody Diluent	-	Dianova
FUT4	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	1:100 in PBS	30 s	Prosci
ST3GAL3	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	1:500 in PBS	2 min	Invitrogen
ST3GAL4	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	1:100 in PBS	2 min	Sino Biological
ST3GAL6	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	1:100 in PBS	30 s	Novus Biological
NEU1	Rabbit*	Polyclonal	1:50 in PBS	3 min	Sigma-Aldrich

"Isotype is not mentioned in the datasheet.

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

Ma et al.

primary antibodies for 16 h at 4°C. After washing twice in PBS, slides were incubated with Cy2-/Cy3-labeled fluorescent secondary antibodies (Dianova, Germany) for 30 min at room temperature in darkness to avoid fluorescence quenching. Finally, slides were embedded in Vectashield[®] mounting medium with DAPI (Vector Laboratories, USA) for blue staining of the nucleus after washing and drying. A Fluorescent Axioskop photomicroscope (Zeiss, Germany) was used to examine all slides. Pictures were taken using a digital Axiocam camera system (Zeiss, Germany).

Evaluation of Villous Vessels in Miscarriage and Control Groups

Another cohort (n = 10 each group) of gestation ages-paired placenta tissues was selected to perform CD31 staining, which visualized the villous vessels. Slides were evaluated by two independent observers using the microscope (Leica, Germany) at a magnification of ×100. Five fields were randomly captured for every slide. Any brown-staining endothelial cell or endothelial cell cluster that was clearly separate from adjacent vessels was considered as a single, countable vessel. The visualization of the vessel lumens was not a prerequisite for a structure to be identified as a vessel (16). To balance the significantly different vessel numbers between large and small villi, all villi were divided into three groups according to their diameter: small villi (<200 μ m), middle villi (200–400 μ m), and large villi (>400 μ m). The final "number of vessels per villous" was calculated (number of vessels/number of villi of every sample) and statistically analyzed in different size groups, respectively.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical differences between experimental groups were analyzed using Graphpad Prism 8 (Graphpad Software Inc., USA). Data in this study were represented as the mean \pm SD for quantitative variables. The Gaussian distribution of the continuous variables was tested by the Kolmogorov–Smirnov statistic. Two-tailed Student's paired *t*-test or Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test was performed for the paired cohort. One way ANOVA or Kruskal–Wallis test was used for more than two comparison groups, and Dunnett's test for multiple comparisons. Correlation analysis was performed using Spearman's rank correlation coefficient. A *P* value <0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

Aberrant Glycosylation and Inflammatory Response in RM

Our GSEA analysis indicated that glycosylation and inflammatory response were significantly changed in RM (**Figure 2A**). More specifically, glycosylation was downregulated (NES = -1.7706, FDR = 0.0024) and inflammatory response was upregulated (NES = 2.0732, FDR < 0.0001). We next performed Metascape analysis including the significantly downregulated GO_GLYCOSYLATION genes in

Lewis Antigens in Miscarriages

RM. Here, we identified distinctive GO biological processes "Immune system process and Biological adhesion". These results might indicate their significant interaction with the downregulation of glycosylation status in RM (Figure 2B). Besides, KEGG pathway and GO enrichment analysis (Supplementary Figure 2) also revealed distinctive pathways and cellular components "Focal adhesion and Cell adhesion molecules", with which Lewis antigens have been tightly associated (7). Furthermore, pathways network visualization (Figure 2C) indicated that leukocyte adhesion, migration, and developmental process might occur due to changes in glycoprotein metabolic process in RM. Notably, VEGFA-VEGFR2 signaling pathway, which plays the pivotal role in the angiogenesis in ovarian function and embryonic development (17), was also involved in the network.

Downregulated Lewis Antigens in the Miscarriage Groups

Positive expression of sLeA, sLeX, LeX, and LeY was detected in the syncytiotrophoblast across all groups included in this study (**Figure 3**). More specifically, sLeA was prominently lower in both RM and SM group than NC group (P < 0.05 and P < 0.001, respectively); sLeX expression was also prominently lower in both RM and SM group compared with NC group (P < 0.001 and P < 0.05, respectively) and sLeX was even lower in RM than SM group (P < 0.05); LeX expression was significantly downregulated in both RM (P < 0.05) and SM (P < 0.001) groups comparing with NC group; LeY showed similar expression pattern to LeX in both RM (P < 0.01) and SM (P < 0.01) groups. Strikingly, LeX and LeY staining were also clearly identified inside the villi of the normal control group, probably the endothelial cells of villous vessels, but not significant in miscarriage groups (**Figure 4**).

To identify potential key enzymes related to Lewis antigens in miscarriage, we evaluated the expression patterns of three α -2,3 sialyltransferases, ST3GAL3, -4, and -6, which act on the N-Acetyllactosamine structure (Gal\beta1,3/4GlcNAc) to create sLeA/ X and related sialofucosylated glycans. Synthesis of Lewis antigens also requires the synergic action of variable fucosyltransferases (Figure 1), here α -1,3 fucosyltransferase FUT4 was investigated. Pretest staining of FUT3 and FUT6 (n = 5 each group) showed their strong expression in the syncytiotrophoblast of every sample but no significant differences between groups (Supplementary Figure 3). Meanwhile, neuraminidase 1 (NEU1), a member of the human sialidases (neuraminidases) family that controls cellular sialic acid contents in collaboration with sialyltransferases by catalyzing the removal of sialic acid moieties from glycoproteins and glycolipids, was also investigated. Among three sialyltransferases, ST3GAL6 showed the strongest expression, it was prominently higher in the NC group than the RM group (P < 0.05), but not the SM group (Figure 5). Expression of ST3GAL3, ST3GAL4, and FUT4 showed no significant differences among groups (Figure 5). NEU1 in the SM group but not the NC group was prominently upregulated than the RM group (P <0.05, Figure 5). Negative controls are shown in Supplementary Figure 4.

Lewis Antigens in Miscarriages

Positive Correlation of ST3GAL6 with sLeX and LeY

Significant correlations were found in the expression of ST3GAL6 with sLeX and LeY (**Table 3** and **Figure 6**). In detail, both sLeX and LeY were positively correlated with ST3GAL6 in the syncytiotrophoblast (r = 0.4277, P = 0.0130; r = 0.6377, P < 0.0001 respectively). In contrast, there were no prominent correlations of NEU1 with any of the four Lewis antigens (**Table 3**).

Diminished Villous Vessels in the Miscarriage Group

CD31 staining of gestation ages-paired placenta tissues revealed significantly diminished vessels in the villi of the miscarriage

group, which was consistent across all types of villi (**Figure 7**). In the miscarriage group, the mean number of vessels per small villi was 0.62 ± 0.59 (*vs* 0.98 ± 0.63 , P = 0.0371), per middle villi (1.95 ± 1.32 *vs* 3.88 ± 1.90 , P = 0.0010), and per large villi (2.95 ± 2.01 *vs* 9.92 ± 3.50 , P = 0.0003).

Existence of LeX/Y in the Endothelial Cells of Villous Vessels

LeX/Y positive cells were stained in green, CD31 positive endothelial cells were red (**Figure 8**). LeX/Y + CD31 double immunofluorescent staining was used to further prove that immunohistochemical staining of LeX/Y inside the villi (**Figure 4**) was exact the endothelial cells of villous vessels. The



downregulated GO_GLYCOSYLATION genes in RM by performing Metascape, different colors represent different GO term groups.





Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

May 2021 | Volume 12 | Article 679424



Lewis Antigens in Miscarriages



FIGURE 5 | Immunohistochemical staining of five potential key enzymes that responsible for the synthesis of carbohydrate Lewis antigens in the syncytiotrophoblast of three groups of placenta tissues. *P < 0.05.

TABLE 3 | Spearman's rank correlation coefficients of the expression of ST3GAL6 and sLeA, sLeX, LeX, and LeY.

	ST3GAL6			NEU1		
	r	P value	95% Cl	r	P value	95% CI
sLeA	0.2336	0.1837	-0.1238 to 0.5373	-0.1606	0.3719	-0.4857 to 0.2035
sLeX	0.4277	0.0130	0.08843 to 0.6780	0.1083	0.5486	-0.2540 to 0.4439
LeX	0.2234	0.2190	-0.1464 to 0.5385	-0.07437	0.6858	-0.4213 to 0.2915
LeY	0.6377	<0.0001	0.3678 to 0.8085	0.05042	0.7841	-0.3133 to 0.4013

R, correlation coefficient; Cl, confidence interval. P < 0.05 is in bold and considered to be statistically significant.

merged pictures in **Figure 8** confirm the co-localization of LeX/Y and CD31.

DISCUSSION

Aberrant glycosylation often indicates the tissue inflammation and neoplasia. Particularly, increased sialylation actuates the key processes of tumor progression and metastasis like cell adhesion, invasion, and immune escape (18–22). Meanwhile, there is increasing evidence that altered glycosylation is important in human gamete binding and embryo implantation (8, 11, 23–26). Establishment of balanced maternal immune tolerance towards the semi-allogenic fetus is a crucial step in maintaining a healthy pregnancy. In particular, an inflammatory microenvironment is required for early implantation (27). However, an excessive inflammatory response would lead to RM and other pregnancy complications like pre-eclampsia and premature labor (28). Whether glycosylation alterations interact with inflammatory response and contribute to the pathogenesis of miscarriage is largely unknown. In this study, we report significant downexpression of glycosylation-related signatures and

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

Lewis Antigens in Miscarriages







upregulated inflammatory response, which is in line with previous studies (29, 30), in RM through GSEA. Gene enrichment and network analysis performed with downregulated GO_GLYCOSYLATION genes in RM deciphered the significant relationships of aberrant glycosylation with immune system process and biological adhesion, the possible interactions were also visualized (**Figure 2**). Immunohistochemical staining further indicated that Lewis antigens were downregulated in miscarriage groups and key modulators including, ST3GAL6 and NEU1, might be responsible for these alterations.

SLeA, also known as carbohydrate antigen 19-9 (CA19-9), and sLeX are the most common sialylated cell surface glycoconjugates, which mediate the adhesion of leukocytes to endothelial cells and platelets (23). They have been also widely investigated in many types of cancers, and sLeA and sLeX were reported to promote metastasis and malignant transformation (7). SLeA and sLeX were both found to be abundant at the human endometrium during the implantation stage (23). Meanwhile, sLeX was also identified at the level of human zona pellucida, indicating its pivotal role in sperm-egg binding and subsequent adhesion of the embryo to the endometrium (8, 11, 25). Upregulation of sLeX *via* FUT7 transfection promoted the embryo adhesion and implantation were shown in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* model (31, 32). The significantly downregulated sLeA and sLeX in the miscarriage groups revealed by our study may partly explain disturbed trophoblast adhesion and invasion ability during early placentation that leads to subsequent early pregnancy loss.

Ma et al.


Lewis Antigens in Miscarriages



LeX, also Stage-specific embryonic antigen-1 (SSEA-1), is playing a gradually role in human embryogenesis, especially in cell-cell recognition and adhesion processes which is critical on the surface of embryonic ectodermal cells (33). In the brain, LeX predominantly facilitates the cell-cell interactions involved in neuronal development (34). Moreover, LeX is necessary for neutrophil transepithelial migration (35). On the other hand, overexpression of LeX is usually associated with decreased survival, metastasis, and malignant transformation in many types of cancers (36-40). In accordance with a previous study (41), we also found a weak expression manner of LeX in the syncytiotrophoblast in the NC group, but almost no expression in the miscarriage groups. Given the important role of LeX in the processes of adhesion and metastasis, we speculate that downregulated LeX in the syncytiotrophoblast may contribute to miscarriage for insufficient trophoblast function.

As previously described, LeY has been found in human uterine epithelial tissues and its expression was significantly upregulated during the secretory stages of the menstrual cycle in humans (42). Blocking LeY reduced the adhesion of the human trophoblast cell line (JAR) to the uterine epithelial cell line (RL95-2) in an in vitro implantation model (10). Here, we report that both LeY and LeX are expressed in the chorionic villi, and their expression is significantly downregulated in the syncytiotrophoblast of miscarriage groups comparing with the NC group. In addition, LeX and LeY expression was also identified inside the villi in the NC group, but not prominent in the miscarriage group. We further showed that LeX and LeY specifically localized in the endothelial cells of the villous vessel. The villous vessels in the miscarriage group were significantly diminished in all sizes of villi compared with the control group. Candelier et al. and Ziganshina et al. reported similar findings in their work on hydatidiform moles and fetal growth restriction (41, 43). Moreover, the role of LeY in endothelial tube formation and angiogenesis has been previously demonstrated in human rheumatoid arthritis and rat cornea (44, 45). Deficient vascularization has been reported in miscarriages and hydatidiform mole, especially the empty sac miscarriages (46, 47). While Reus et al. showed that there was no prominent difference between empty sac or yolk sac miscarriages and embryonic miscarriages concerning the chorionic villous vascularization (48). In our network analysis, VEGFA-VEGFR2 signaling pathway, which plays a prominent role in the angiogenesis, also interacts with aberrant glycosylation. Thus, the downregulated LeY expression may account for the insufficient trophoblast function as well as the defective vascularization in miscarriages.

Leukocyte infiltration in the decidua is a cardinal feature during first trimester pregnancy, which comprises mainly the natural killer cells, macrophages and, comparatively a few T cells (49). The crosstalk between trophoblast and decidual leukocytes via complicated cytokine network allows these two parts to attract each other (49). Alterations in leukocytes recruitment and activation have been extensively related to miscarriage (50). Similarly, our results obtained through network analysis indicated that the aberrant glycosylation might be involved in leukocyte adhesion and migration in RM. Moreover, five key modulators in the synthetic pathways of Lewis antigens were investigated, among which ST3GAL6 and NEU1 showed dysregulated expression. To our knowledge, this is the first description of α -2,3 sialyltransferases, neuraminidase, and fucosyltransferase expression patterns in the chorionic villi of patients with unexplained miscarriages.

ST3GAL3, ST3GAL4, and ST3GAL6 all belong to the α -2,3 sialyltransferases family. While having different substrate specificity, they all catalyze the transfer of sialic acid residues to galactopyranosyl residue (51). *In vitro* study suggested that ST3GAL3 preferentially acts on type I disaccharides (Galβ1,3GlcNAc, the backbone of sLeA), but also mildly catalyze the sialylation of type II disaccharides (Galβ1,4GlcNAc, the backbone of sLeX) (52). Sasaki et al. reported that ST3GAL4 recombinant protein extracted from a melanoma library showed enzymatic activity towards both type I and type II disaccharides in *in vitro* assays whereas preferentially catalyzed type II substrates in

Lewis Antigens in Miscarriages

Ma et al.

in vivo condition (53). While most studies found ST3GAL4 acted on type II disaccharides despite in vitro or in vivo status (54-57). Similarly, ST3GAL6 mainly catalyzes the transfer of sialic acid residues onto type II disaccharides found on glycoproteins and glycolipids (58, 59). We demonstrated a significant correlation of ST3GAL6 expression with sLeX, which is consistent with previously described exclusive ST3GAL6 effect on type II disaccharides. This is especially important, considering that downregulated ST3GAL6 may play a role in the downregulation of sLeX in the villi of recurrent miscarriages. Notably, we also found a strong positive correlation between ST3GAL6 and LeY expression, which cannot be simply explained by the enzymatic specificity of ST3GAL6 since the synthesis of LeY requires the sequential effect of \$\alpha\$-1,2 and \$\alpha\$-1,3 fucosyltransferases rather than sialyltransferases. Inhibited sialylation potentially allows greater fucosylation due to competition between fucosyltransferase and sialyltransferase, for the same acceptor substrates (57, 60, 61), downregulated ST3GAL6 should have yielded higher expression of LeX and LeY, which was not found in our study. A possible explanation might be the existence of predominantly impaired fucosyltransferases in the miscarriage villi has not been identified yet, on the other hand, the glycosylation network is far more complex than we have known.

FUT4 was reported in many studies to be vital in controlling the synthesis of LeX and LeY (10, 61, 62), but demonstrated no significant difference among the groups included in our analysis. Gadhoum and Sackstein found that NEU1 predominantly increased LeX expression through desialylation sLeX in the process of human myeloid differentiation (63). NEU4, which is another member of the human neuraminidase family, shows a broader substrate specificity compared with NEU1. Previous study indicates that NEU4 desialylates cell surface sLeA/X to LeA/X without affecting the expression of ST3GAL3, ST3GAL4, FUT3, and FUT7 in colon cancer cells (64). Here, we found significantly higher expression of NEU1 in the SM group comparing with the RM group, but no correlations were identified with Lewis antigens, which may due to its limited sialidase capacity on sLeA/SLeX (64).

To conclude, we report significant downregulation of glycosylation-related signatures and adhesion molecules, as well as upregulated inflammatory response in the chorionic villi of RM through GSEA and KEGG pathway analysis. Accordingly, downregulation of sLeA, sLeX, LeX, and LeY were further identified. Key modulators, such as ST3GAL6 and NEU1 may be involved and account for these alterations. Interestingly, significantly diminished villous vessels were also identified in the miscarriage group. Taken together, our data might indicate that altered expression of Lewis antigens may actuate miscarriages by affecting 1) trophoblast function 2) its

REFERENCES

- Dimitriadis E, Menkhorst E, Saito S, Kutteh WH, Brosens JJ. Recurrent Pregnancy Loss. Nat Rev Dis Primers (2020) 6:98. doi: 10.1038/s41572-020-00228-z
- 2. van Dijk MM, Kolte AM, Limpens J, Kirk E, Quenby S, van Wely M, et al. Recurrent Pregnancy Loss: Diagnostic Workup After Two or Three Pregnancy Losses? A Systematic Review of the Literature and Meta-

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

interaction with decidual leukocytes and 3) the vascularization of the villi. A better understanding of the vital role that Lewis antigens are playing in pathology of miscarriages will yield the development of novel therapeutic approaches, which still requires more future work.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the LMU Munich. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

UJ and VS conceived of the study and participated in its design and coordination. ZM performed the experiments and statistical analysis and wrote the manuscript. HY, LP, and CK performed technical assistance in immunohistochemistry assays. HY, LP, CK, AC-R, SM, UJ, and VS revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Ms. Siyuan Gong from the Endocrinology Department of Munich University Hospital for bioinformatic analysis support. ZM acknowledges the China Scholarship Council (CSC) for supporting his study in LMU Munich.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2021. 679424/full#supplementary-material

Analysis. Hum Reprod Update (2020) 26:356-67. doi: 10.1093/humupd/ dmz048

- Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive M. Evaluation and Treatment of Recurrent Pregnancy Loss: A Committee Opinion. *Fertil* Steril (2012) 98:1103–11. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.06.048
- Bender Atik R, Christiansen OB, Elson J, Kolte AM, Lewis S, Middeldorp S, et al. ESHRE Guideline: Recurrent Pregnancy Loss. *Hum Reprod Open* (2018) 2018:hoy004. doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoy004

Lewis Antigens in Miscarriages

- Ma et al.
- Bohlmann MK, Luedders DW, von Wolff M. Evidence-Based Guidelines for the Investigation and Medical Treatment of Recurrent Miscarriage. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (2007) 22:309; author reply –11. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/del349
- Lloyd KO. The Chemistry and Immunochemistry of Blood Group A, B, H, and Lewis Antigens: Past, Present and Future. *Glycoconjugate J* (2000) 17:531–41. doi: 10.1023/a:1011066308591
- Blanas A, Sahasrabudhe NM, Rodriguez E, van Kooyk Y, van Vliet SJ. Fucosylated Antigens in Cancer: An Alliance Toward Tumor Progression, Metastasis, and Resistance to Chemotherapy. *Front Oncol* (2018) 8:39. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00039
- Pang PC, Chiu PC, Lee CL, Chang LY, Panico M, Morris HR, et al. Human Sperm Binding is Mediated by the sialyl-Lewis(x) Oligosaccharide on the Zona Pellucida. Sci (New York NY) (2011) 333:1761–4. doi: 10.1126/ science.1207438
- Lai TH, Shih Ie M, Vlahos N, Ho CL, Wallach E, Zhao Y. Differential Expression of L-selectin Ligand in the Endometrium During the Menstrual Cycle. *Fertil Steril* (2005) 83(Suppl 1):1297–302. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert. 2004.11.040
- Zhang D, Wei J, Wang J, Liu S, Wang X, Yan Q. Difucosylated Oligosaccharide Lewis Y is Contained Within Integrin Alphavbeta3 on RL95-2 Cells and Required for Endometrial Receptivity. *Fertil steril* (2011) 95:1446-51.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.04.036
- Genbacev OD, Prakobphol A, Foulk RA, Krtolica AR, Ilic D, Singer MS, et al. Trophoblast L-selectin-mediated Adhesion At the Matemal-Fetal Interface. Sci (New York NY) (2003) 299:405–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1079546
- Kolben TM, Rogatsch E, Hester A, Kuhn C, Schmoeckel E, Czogalla B, et al. Involvement of ILR4 Alpha and TLR4 in Miscarriages. J Reprod Immunol (2019) 131:36–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2018.12.001
- Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, Mukherjee S, Ebert BL, Gillette MA, et al. Gene Set Enrichment Analysis: A Knowledge-Based Approach for Interpreting Genome-Wide Expression Profiles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2005) 102:15545–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506580102
- Tian FJ, Cheng YX, Li XC, Wang F, Qin CM, Ma XL, et al. The YY1/MMP2 Axis Promotes Trophoblast Invasion At the Maternal-Fetal Interface. J Pathol (2016) 239:36–47. doi: 10.1002/path.4694
- Zhou Y, Zhou B, Pache L, Chang M, Khodabakhshi AH, Tanaseichuk O, et al. Metascape Provides a Biologist-Oriented Resource for the Analysis of Systems-Level Datasets. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10:1523. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09234-6
- Chen X, Jiang L, Wang CC, Huang J, Li TC. Hypoxia Inducible Factor and Microvessels in Peri-Implantation Endometrium of Women With Recurrent Miscarriage. Fertil Steril (2016) 105:1496–502.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert. 2016.02.032
- Douglas NC, Tang H, Gomez R, Pytowski B, Hicklin DJ, Sauer CM, et al. Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor 2 (VEGFR-2) Functions to Promote Uterine Decidual Angiogenesis During Early Pregnancy in the Mouse. *Endocrinology* (2009) 150:3845–54. doi: 10.1210/en.2008-1207
- Schultz MJ, Swindall AF, Bellis SL. Regulation of the Metastatic Cell Phenotype by Sialylated Glycans. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* (2012) 31:501–18. doi: 10.1007/s10555-012-9359-7
- Christiansen MN, Chik J, Lee L, Anugraham M, Abrahams JL, Packer NH. Cell Surface Protein Glycosylation in Cancer. *Proteomics* (2014) 14:525–46. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201300387
- Pinho SS, Reis CA. Glycosylation in Cancer: Mechanisms and Clinical Implications. Nat Rev Cancer (2015) 15:540–55. doi: 10.1038/nrc3982
- Vajaria BN, Patel PS. Glycosylation: A Hallmark of Cancer? Glycoconjugate J (2017) 34:147–56. doi: 10.1007/s10719-016-9755-2
- Mereiter S, Balmana M, Campos D, Gomes J, Reis CA. Glycosylation in the Era of Cancer-Targeted Therapy: Where are We Heading? *Cancer Cell* (2019) 36:6–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2019.06.006
- Hey NA, Aplin JD. Sialyl-Lewis X and Sialyl-Lewis a are Associated With MUC1 in Human Endometrium. *Glycoconjugate J* (1996) 13:769–79. doi: 10.1007/bf00702341
- Cailleau-Thomas A, Coullin P, Candelier JJ, Balanzino L, Mennesson B, Oriol R, et al. FUT4 and FUT9 Genes are Expressed Early in Human Embryogenesis. *Glycobiology* (2000) 10:789–802. doi: 10.1093/glycob/ 10.8.789

- Clark GF. The Role of Carbohydrate Recognition During Human Sperm-Egg Binding. Hum Reprod (Oxford England) (2013) 28:566–77. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/des447
- Feng Y, Ma X, Deng LW, Yao B, Xiong Y, Wu YL, et al. Role of Selectins and Their Ligands in Human Implantation Stage. *Glycobiology* (2017) 27:385–91. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwx009
- Challis JR, Lockwood CJ, Myatt L, Norman JE, Strauss JF, et al. 3rdInflammation and Pregnancy. *Reprod Sci* (2009) 16:206–15. doi: 10.1177/ 1933719108329095
- Chaouat G, Ledee-Bataille N, Dubanchet S, Zourbas S, Sandra O, Martal J. TH1/TH2 Paradigm in Pregnancy: Paradigm Lost Cytokines in Pregnancy/ Early Abortion: Reexamining the TH1/TH2 Paradigm. Int Arch Allergy Immunol (2004) 134:93–119. doi: 10.1159/000074300
- Raghupathy R, Makhseed M, Azizieh F, Omu A, Gupta M, Farhat R. Cytokine Production by Maternal Lymphocytes During Normal Human Pregnancy and in Unexplained Recurrent Spontaneous Abortion. Hum Reprod (Oxford England) (2000) 15:713–8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/15.3.713
- Calleja-Agius J, Jauniaux E, Pizzey AR, Muttukrishna S. Investigation of Systemic Inflammatory Response in First Trimester Pregnancy Failure. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (2012) 27:349–57. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der402
- Zhang Y, Liu S, Liu Y, Wang Z, Wang X, Yan Q. Overexpression of Fucosyltransferase VII (FUT7) Promotes Embryo Adhesion and Implantation. *Fertil steril* (2009) 91:908-14. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007. 12.012
- Liu SA, Yang XS, Liu YJ, Wang XQ, Yan Q. sLeX/L-selectin Mediates Adhesion In Vitro Implantation Model. *Mol Cell Biochem* (2011) 350:185– 92. doi: 10.1007/s11010-010-0697-x
- Liu S, Liu H, Tang S, Pan Y, Ji K, Ning H, et al. Characterization of Stage-Specific Embryonic Antigen-1 Expression During Early Stages of Human Embryogenesis. Oncol Rep (2004) 12:1251–6. doi: 10.3892/or.12.6.1251
- Nishihara S, Iwasaki H, Nakajima K, Togayachi A, Ikehara Y, Kudo T, et al. Alpha1,3-Fucosyltransferase IX (Fut9) Determines Lewis X Expression in Brain. *Glycobiology* (2003) 13:445–55. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwg048
- Brazil JC, Sumagin R, Cummings RD, Louis NA, Parkos CA. Targeting of Neutrophil Lewis X Blocks Transepithelial Migration and Increases Phagocytosis and Degranulation. Am J Pathol (2016) 186:297–311. doi: 10.1016/j.aipath.2015.10.015
- Kadota A, Masutani M, Takei M, Horie T. Evaluation of Expression of CD15 and sCD15 in non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Int J Oncol (1999) 15:1081–9. doi: 10.3892/ijo.15.6.1081
- Koh YW, Lee HJ, Ahn JH, Lee JW, Gong G. Expression of Lewis X is Associated With Poor Prognosis in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. Am J Clin Pathol (2013) 139:746–53. doi: 10.1309/AJCP2E6QNDIDPTTC
- Jang TJ, Park JB, Lee JL. The Expression of CD10 and CD15 is Progressively Increased During Colorectal Cancer Development. *Korean J Pathol* (2013) 47:340–7. doi: 10.4132/KoreanJPathol.2013.47.4.340
- Konety BR, Ballou B, Jaffe R, Singh J, Reiland J, Hakala TR. Expression of SSEA-1 (Lewis(X)) on Transitional Cell Carcinoma of the Bladder. Urol Int (1997) 58:69–74. doi: 10.1159/000282953
- Kim YS, Itzkowitz SH, Yuan M, Chung Y, Satake K, Umeyama K, et al. Lex and Ley Antigen Expression in Human Pancreatic Cancer. *Cancer Res* (1988) 48:475–82.
- Candelier JJ, Frappart L, Diatta AL, Yadaden T, Cisse ML, Afoutou JM, et al. Differential Expression of E-cadherin, Beta-Catenin, and Lewis X Between Invasive Hydatidiform Moles and Post-Molar Choriocarcinomas. Virchows Arch (2013) 462:653–63. doi: 10.1007/s00428-013-1427-z
- Ravn V, Teglbjaerg CS, Mandel U, Dabelsteen E. The Distribution of Type-2 Chain Histo-Blood Group Antigens in Normal Cycling Human Endometrium. *Cell Tissue Res* (1992) 270:425-33. doi: 10.1007/ BF00645043
- Ziganshina MM, Kulikova GV, Fayzullina NM, Yarotskaya EL, Shchegolev AI, Le Pendu J, et al. Expression of Fucosylated Glycans in Endothelial Glycocalyces of Placental Villi At Early and Late Fetal Growth Restriction. *Placenta* (2020) 90:98–102. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2019.12.005
 Moehler TM, Sauer S, Witzel M, Andrulis M, Garcia-Vallejo JJ, Grobholz R,
- Mochler TM, Sauer S, Witzel M, Andrulis M, Garcia-Vallejo JJ, Grobholz R, et al. Involvement of Alpha 2-Fucosyltransferase I (FUT1) and Surface-Expressed Lewis(y) (CD174) in First Endothelial Cell-Cell Contacts During Angiogenesis. J Cell Physiol (2008) 215:27–36. doi: 10.1002/jcp.21285

Lewis Antigens in Miscarriages

- Sauer S, Meissner T, Moehler T. A Furan-Based Lewis-Y-(Cd174)-Saccharide Mimetic Inhibits Endothelial Functions and In Vitro Angiogenesis. Adv Clin Exp Med (2015) 24:759–68. doi: 10.17219/acem/38562
- 46. te Velde EA, Exalto N, Hesseling P, van der Linden HC. First Trimester Development of Human Chorionic Villous Vascularization Studied With CD34 Immunohistochemistry. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (1997) 12:1577–81. doi: 10.1093/humrep/12.7.1577
- Lisman BA, Boer K, Bleker OP, van Wely M, Exalto N. Vasculogenesis in Complete and Partial Hydatidiform Mole Pregnancies Studied With CD34 Immunohistochemistry. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (2005) 20:2334–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dei039
- Reus AD, Stephenson MD, van Dunne FM, de Krijger RR, Joosten M, Steegers EA, et al. Chorionic Villous Vascularization Related to Phenotype and Genotype in First Trimester Miscarriages in a Recurrent Pregnancy Loss Cohort. Hum Reprod (Oxford England) (2013) 28:916–23. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/det025
- 49. Helige C, Ahammer H, Moser G, Hammer A, Dohr G, Huppertz B, et al. Distribution of Decidual Natural Killer Cells and Macrophages in the Neighbourhood of the Trophoblast Invasion Front: A Quantitative Evaluation. *Hum Reprod (Oxford England)* (2014) 29:8–17. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/det353
- Laird SM, Tuckerman EM, Cork BA, Linjawi S, Blakemore AIF, Li TC. A Review of Immune Cells and Molecules in Women With Recurrent Miscarriage. *Hum Reprod Update* (2003) 9:163–74. doi: 10.1093/humupd/ dmg013
- Carvalho AS, Harduin-Lepers A, Magalhaes A, Machado E, Mendes N, Costa LT, et al. Differential Expression of alpha-2,3-sialyltransferases and alpha-1,3/ 4-fucosyltransferases Regulates the Levels of Sialyl Lewis a and Sialyl Lewis X in Gastrointestinal Carcinoma Cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (2010) 42:80–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2009.09.010
- Kitagawa H, Paulson JC. Cloning and Expression of Human Gal Beta 1,3(4) GlcNAc Alpha 2,3-Sialyltransferase. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1993) 194:375–82. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1993.1830
- Sasaki K, Watanabe E, Kawashima K, Sekine S, Dohi T, Oshima M, et al. Expression Cloning of a Novel Gal Beta (1-3/1-4) GlcNAc Alpha 2,3-Sialyltransferase Using Lectin Resistance Selection. J Biol Chem (1993) 268:22782-7. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(18)41595-5
- Sakuma K, Aoki M, Kannagi R. Transcription Factors c-Myc and CDX2 Mediate E-selectin Ligand Expression in Colon Cancer Cells Undergoing EGF/bFGF-induced Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2012) 109:7776–81. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1111135109
- Colomb F, Krzewinski-Recchi MA, El Machhour F, Mensier E, Jaillard S, Steenackers A, et al. TNF Regulates sialyl-Lewisx and 6-sulfo-sialyl-Lewisx Expression in Human Lung Through Up-Regulation of ST3GAL4 Transcript Isoform BX. *Biochimie* (2012) 94:2045–53. doi: 10.1016/ j.biochi.2012.05.030

- 56. Colomb F, Vidal O, Bobowski M, Krzewinski-Recchi MA, Harduin-Lepers A, Mensier E, et al. TNF Induces the Expression of the Sialyltransferase ST3Gal IV in Human Bronchial Mucosa Via MSK1/2 Protein Kinases and Increases FliD/sialyl-Lewis(x)-mediated Adhesion of Pseudomonas Aeruginosa. *Biochem J* (2014) 457:79–87. doi: 10.1042/BJ20130989
- Mondal N, Buffone A Jr, Stolfa G, Antonopoulos A, Lau JT, Haslam SM, et al. ST3Gal-4 is the Primary Sialyltransferase Regulating the Synthesis of E-, P-, and L-selectin Ligands on Human Myeloid Leukocytes. *Blood* (2015) 125:687– 96. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-07-588590
- Okajima T, Fukumoto S, Miyazaki H, Ishida H, Kiso M, Furukawa K, et al. Molecular Cloning of a Novel alpha2,3-sialyltransferase (St3gal VI) That Sialylates Type II Lactosamine Structures on Glycoproteins and Glycolipids. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274:11479–86. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.17.11479
- Glavey SV, Manier S, Natoni A, Sacco A, Moschetta M, Reagan MR, et al. The Sialyltransferase ST3GAL6 Influences Homing and Survival in Multiple Myeloma. *Blood* (2014) 124:1765–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-03-560862
- Beyer TA, Rearick JI, Paulson JC, Prieels JP, Sadler JE, Hill RL. Biosynthesis of Mammalian Glycoproteins. Glycosylation Pathways in the Synthesis of the Nonreducing Terminal Sequences. J Biol Chem (1979) 254:12531–4. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9258(19)86347-0
- Rillahan CD, Antonopoulos A, Lefort CT, Sonon R, Azadi P, Ley K, et al. Global Metabolic Inhibitors of Sialyl- and Fucosyltransferases Remodel the Glycome. Nat Chem Biol (2012) 8:661–8. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.999
- Zhang Z, Sun P, Liu J, Fu L, Yan J, Liu Y, et al. Suppression of FUT1/FUT4 Expression by siRNA Inhibits Tumor Growth. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2008) 1783:287–96. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2007.10.007
- Gadhoum SZ, Sackstein R. CD15 Expression in Human Myeloid Cell Differentiation is Regulated by Sialidase Activity. Nat Chem Biol (2008) 4:751–7. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.116
- 64. Shiozaki K, Yamaguchi K, Takahashi K, Moriya S, Miyagi T. Regulation of Sialyl Lewis Antigen Expression in Colon Cancer Cells by Sialidase NEU4. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286:21052–61. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.231191

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling Editor declared a past co-authorship with one of the authors (UJ).

Copyright © 2021 Ma, Yang, Peng, Kuhn, Chelariu-Raicu, Mahner, Jeschke and von Schönfeldt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL



Supplementary Figure 1. Gestational ages distribution in different groups of samples.



Supplementary Figure 2. Gene expression analysis. A) Distinctive pathways obtained from KEGG pathway enrichment analysis, notably "Focal adhesion" and "Cell adhesion molecules" were enriched. Terms in B) Biological Process (BP), C) Cellular Component (CC), and D) Molecular Function (MF) obtained from GO enrichment analysis, notably "Cell-substrate adhesion", "Focal adhesion", and "Protein complex involved in cell adhesion" were also enriched in BP and CC.



Supplementary Figure 3. Immunohistochemical staining of FUT3 and FUT6 in the syncytiotrophoblast of three groups of placenta tissues. Dilution: FUT3 1:200, FUT3 1:400.



Supplementary Figure 4. Immunohistochemical staining of different isotypes of negative controls.

6. Publication II

ORIGINAL RESEARCH published: 28 June 2022 doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.919193



Targeting Aberrantly Elevated Sialyl Lewis A as a Potential Therapy for Impaired Endometrial Selection Ability in Unexplained Recurrent Miscarriage

Zhi Ma¹, Huixia Yang¹, Mirjana Kessler¹, Markus Sperandio², Sven Mahner¹, Udo Jeschke^{1,3*} and Viktoria von Schönfeldt¹

¹ Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University Hospital, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität Munich, Munich, Germany, ² Biomedical Center (BMC), Institute for Cardiovascular Physiology and Pathophysiology, Walter Brendel Center for Experimental Medicine (WBex), Faculty of Medicine, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität Munich, Munich, Germany, ³ Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, University Hospital Augsburg, Augsburg, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Kenneth Beaman, Rosalind Franklin University of Medicine and Science, United States

Reviewed by:

Guoyun Chen, University of Tennessee Health Science Center (UTHSC), United States Nobuaki Higashi, Hoshi University, Japan

*Correspondence: Udo Jeschke Udo.Jeschke@uk-augsburg.de

Specialty section: This article was submitted to

> Immunological Tolerance and Regulation, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 13 April 2022 Accepted: 02 June 2022 Published: 28 June 2022

Citation:

Ma Z, Yang H, Kessler M, Sperandio M, Mahner S, Jeschke U and von Schönfeldt V (2022) Targeting Aberrantly Elevated Sialyl Lewis A as a Potential Therapy for Impaired Endometrial Selection Ability in Unexplained Recurrent Miscarriage. Front. Immunol. 13:919193. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.919193 **Background:** Carbohydrate Lewis antigens including sialyl Lewis A (sLeA), sialyl Lewis X (sLeX), Lewis X (LeX), and Lewis Y (LeY) are the commonest cell surface glycoconjugates that play pivotal roles in multiple biological processes, including cell adhesion and cell communication events during embryogenesis. SLeX, LeY, and associated glycosyltransferases ST3GAL3 and FUT4 have been reported to be involved in human embryo implantation. While the expression pattern of Lewis antigens in the decidua of unexplained recurrent miscarriage (uRM) patients remains unclear.

Methods: Paraffin-embedded placental tissue slides collected from patients experiencing early miscarriages (6–12 weeks) were analyzed using immunohistochemical (IHC) and immunofluorescent (IF) staining. An *in vitro* assay was developed using endometrial cell line RL95-2 and trophoblast cell line HTR-8/SVneo. Modulatory effect of potential glycosyltransferase on Lewis antigens expression was investigated by target-specific small interfering RNA (siRNA) knockdown in RL95-2 cells. HTR-8/SVneo cells spheroids adhesion assay was applied to investigate the intrinsic role of Lewis antigens in the abnormal implantation process of uRM. The expression of Lewis antigens in RL95-2 cells in response to the treatment with pro-implantation cytokine IL-1 β was further measured by flow cytometry and immunocytochemical (ICC) staining.

Results: IHC staining revealed that Lewis antigens are mainly expressed in the luminal and glandular epithelium, IF staining further indicated the cellular localization at the apical membrane of the epithelial cells. FUTs, ST3GALs, and NEU1 located in both stromal and epithelial cells. We have found that the expression of sLeA, LeX, FUT3/4, and ST3GAL3/4 are significantly upregulated in the RM group, while FUT1 is downregulated. SLeX, LeY, ST3GAL6, and NEU1 showed no significant differences between groups. FUT3 knockdown in RL95-2 cells significantly decreased the expression of sLeA and the

spheroids adhesion to endometrial monolayer. Anti-sLeA antibody can remarkably suppress both the basal and IL-1 β induced adhesion of HTR-8/SVneo spheroids to RL95-2 cells monolayer. While further flow cytometry and ICC detection indicated that the treatment of RL95-2 cells with IL-1 β significantly increases the surface expression of LeX, but not sLeA.

Conclusions: SLeA, LeX, and pertinent glycosyltransferase genes FUT1/3/4 and ST3GAL3/ 4 are notably dysregulated in the decidua of uRM patients. FUT3 accounts for the synthesis of sLeA in RL95-2 cells and affects the endometrial receptivity. Targeting aberrantly elevated sLeA may be a potential therapy for the inappropriate implantation in uRM.

Keywords: Lewis antigens, sLeA, LeX, FUT3, recurrent miscarriage

INTRODUCTION

Miscarriage is the most common and frustrating disorder of early pregnancy. An estimated 9-20% of clinically recognized pregnancies end in spontaneous loss, and up to 50% of all conceptions are lost at preclinical stages as biochemical loss or implantation failure (1). Recurrent miscarriage (RM), the failure of two or more pregnancies prior to 20 weeks, affects 1-4% of all couples trying to conceive (1, 2). Known risk factors associated with RM are maternal age, previous pregnancy losses, genetic abnormalities, uterine anomalies, and autoimmune disorders. Even after a thorough evaluation, no causes can be identified in more than 50% of RM couples (3), which are defined as unexplained RM (uRM).

Accumulating studies indicate that uRM is associated with the impaired selection ability of decidual cells, allowing embryos of poor viability to implant inappropriately (4–8). Decidualized endometrial stromal cells (ESCs) were reported to be able to sense an arresting embryo, and response with shutting down the production of pro-implantation modulator IL-1β, preventing the implantation of incompetent embryos (9). While ESCs of uRM patients cannot discriminate between high- and low-quality embryos (10).

Stalyl Lewis A (sLeA) and sialyl Lewis X (sLeX) are commonly found on the surface of many types of cancer cells, facilitating the hematogenous metastasis of these cells through interaction with endothelial cells (11). Studies also reveal that sLeA/X are abundant at the endometrium during implantation stage (12). SLeX is the major terminal carbohydrate sequence on zona pellucida, mediating human sperm-egg binding (13). Specific fucosyltransferases (FUTs), sialyltransferases (STs), and neuraminidases (NEUs) are involved in the synthesis of sLeA/ X and related epitopes (11, 14–17). Despite the significant roles of sLeX and LeY in normal blastocyst implantation have been investigated in several *in vitro* and animal models (18–20), their expression pattern together with other Lewis antigens in the decidua and association with inappropriate implantation in uRM remains unknown. To clarify this issue, our study aimed to assess whether these Lewis antigens and pertinent glycosyltransferases are altered in the decidua of uRM patients, and elucidate their potential link with the impaired selection ability of ESCs in uRM.

METHODS

Patient

Placental samples of RM (n = 15) and legally terminated normal pregnancies (NC, n = 10) were chosen from the tissue bank of the Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology of LMU Munich as previously described (21). Details of the study population are summarized in **Table 1**.

Immunohistochemistry

Paraffin-embedded placental tissue slides were dewaxed in xylol and rehydrated through descending ethanol. Endogenous peroxidase activity was inhibited in 3% H_2O_2 for 20 min followed by antigen retrieval in a pressure pot with 0.1mM sodium citrate and 0.1mM citric acid buffer. The slides were blocked with Reagent 1 (ZytoChem Plus HRP Polymer System (mouse/rabbit), Zytomed Berlin, Germany) for 5 min before application of the primary antibodies (details are shown in **Table 2**) for 16 h at 4°C. PBS (pH = 7.4) washing was performed between each step. Subsequent incubation with post block (Reagent 2) for 20 min and with HRP polymer (Reagent 3)

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population.					
Normal Control (n=10)	Recurrent Miscarriage (n=15)	P value			
31.20 ± 2.86	33.50 ± 3.45	0.09			
9.63 ± 2.40	9.51 ± 1.24	0.87			
2 (1-3)	3 (2-6)	0.02			
2 (0-4)	0 (0-2)	0.25			
	characteristics of the study population. Normal Control (n=10) 31.20 ± 2.86 9.63 ± 2.40 2 (1-3) 2 (0-4)	Normal Control (n=10) Recurrent Miscarriage (n=15) 31.20 ± 2.86 33.50 ± 3.45 9.63 ± 2.40 9.51 ± 1.24 2 (1-3) 3 (2-6) 2 (0-4) 0 (0-2)			

^aData represent mean ± S.D. ^bData presented as median (range).

Upregulated Lewis Antigens in uRM Decidua

TABLE 2 Details of primary antibodies used in this study.						
Antibody	Isotype	Clone	Source	Dilution	Application	
E-Selectin	Mouse IgG	Monoclonal	Calbiochem	1:50	IF	
L-Selectin	Goat IgG	Polyclonal	R&D Systems	1:20	IF	
P-Selectin	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	Sigma-Aldrich	1:50	IF	
sLeA	Mouse IgG	Monoclonal	Calbiochem	1:80/50/50/50	IHC/IF/FCM/ICC	
sLeX	Mouse IgM	Monoclonal	BD Pharmingen	1:200	IHC	
LeX	Mouse IgM	Monoclonal	Novocastra	1:200	IHC	
			Calbiochem	1:100/100	FCM/ICC	
LeY	Mouse IgM	Monoclonal	LSBio	1:50	IHC	
EpCAM	Goat IgG	Polyclonal	R&D Systems	1:100	IF	
FUT1	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	Invitrogen	1:400	IHC	
FUT3	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	Abcam	1:200	IHC	
FUT4	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	Prosci	1:100	IHC	
ST3GAL3	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	Invitrogen	1:500	IHC	
ST3GAL4	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	Sino Biological	1:100	IHC	
ST3GAL6	Rabbit IgG	Polyclonal	Novus Biologicals	1:100	IHC	
NEU1	Rabbit*	Polyclonal	Sigma-Aldrich	1:50	IHC	

"Isotype is not mentioned in the datasheet. IF, immunofluorescence; IHC, immunohistochemistry; FCM, flow cytometry; ICC, immunocytochemistry; EpCAM, Epithelial cell adhesion molecule.

for 30 min was applied following the manufacturer's instructions. The specific antibody binding was visualized with 3,3'-diamionbenzidine substrate-chromogen system (Dako, Denmark) and counterstained with Hemalaun. Certain species-specific isotype control antibodies (Dako) were used for negative control staining. The staining results were analyzed using semiquantitative immunoreactive score (IRS) as previously described (22).

Immunofluorescence

Placenta tissue slide was processed in the same experimental steps as for immunohistochemistry until the step of blocking: Ultra V Block solution (Lab Vision, USA) was applied for 5 min and then incubated with specific primary antibodies for 16 h at 4° C. After washing twice in PBS, slides were incubated with certain fluorescent secondary antibodies (Table 3) according to the host species of different primary antibodies for 30 min at room temperature in darkness. Finally, slides were embedded in Vectashield[®] mounting medium with DAPI (Vector Laboratories, USA) for nucleus staining after washing and drying. Cell smears were prepared on slides in quadriPERM culture dish (SARSTEDT, Germany). Cells on the slides were fixed with ethanol/methanol solution for 15 min followed by 5 min incubation with Ultra V Block solution, subsequent steps are the same as tissue slide. Double immunofluorescent staining of placenta tissue was examined using Leica SP8 confocal system (Leica Microsystems, Germany) and processed with LAS X software (Leica Microsystems, Germany). Immunofluorescent staining of cell smears was examined by Axioskop photomicroscope (Carl Zeiss Microscopy GmbH, Germany) and processed with ZEN Blue software (Carl Zeiss Microscopy GmbH, Germany).

Cell Lines and Culture

Endometrial cell line RL95-2, general model for receptive epithelial cells (23), and trophoblast cell line HTR-8/SVneo, derived from first trimester villous trophoblast with characteristics of villous cytotrophoblast and extravillous trophoblast (23), were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), and were maintained in RPMI 1640 medium + GlutaMAXTM (Gibco, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Gibco, USA) in a 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C. Medium was refreshed every second day.

Cell Transfection

RL95-2 cells were cultured in 6-well plates (10⁶ cells per well, Corning Inc., USA) until 70% confluency and transiently transfected with Silencer Select Pre-designed FUT3 siRNA (12 pmol per well, Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) with Lipofectamine RNAiMAX (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) in Opti-MEM (Gibco, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In the meantime, AllStars Negative Control siRNA (Qiagen, Germany) transfected cells were used as the control. Cells were harvested after 48 h culture for RT-qPCR and

TABLE 3	Details of fluorescent	secondary antibodies	used in this study.
---------	------------------------	----------------------	---------------------

Antibody	Source	Dilution	For primary antibody
		Diration	r or printing unubody
Goat anti-mouse, Alexa Fluor 488	Dianova	1:100	E-Selectin
Donkey anti-goat, Alexa Fluor Plus 488	Invitrogen	1:300	L-Selectin
Donkey anti-rabbit, DyLight 488	Invitrogen	1:100	P-Selectin
Donkey anti-mouse, Alexa Fluor 488	Invitrogen	1:200	sLeA
Donkey anti-goat, Cy2	Dianova	1:100	EpCAM

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

Upregulated Lewis Antigens in uRM Decidua

72 h culture for flow cytometry detection, respectively. For adhesion assay, after 24 h siRNA transfection, cells were replated into 8-well chamber slides (Millipore, Germany) at 2×10^5 per well and cultured for another 48 h until spheroids adhesion.

RNA Extraction, Reverse Transcription, and RT-qPCR

Total cellular RNA was extracted with NucleoSpin[®] RNA Mini kit (MACHEREY-NAGEL, Germany) according to manufacturer's instructions. First strand cDNA was prepared from the total RNA (1 µg) using Oligo dT primers and Reverse Transcriptase (Biozym, Germany). For RT-qPCR, cDNA samples were mixed with FAM-labeled TaqMan probes (β-actin: Hs99999903_m1; FUT3: Hs01868572_s1) from Thermo Fisher Scientific (USA) and TaqMan Fast Universal PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, USA), followed by amplification with 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, USA) according to manufacturer's protocol. Results were calculated by the comparative CT method, with relative transcript levels determined as $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$.

Flow Cytometry Analysis

Detection of cell surface Lewis epitopes was performed by indirect fluorescence. Briefly, RL95-2 cells were detached from the 6-well plate with the Accutase solution (STEMCELL Technologies, USA) digestion, 10⁶ cells were stained with respective primary antibodies (**Table 2**) diluted in DPBS-0.5% Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA). After washing twice, cells were incubated with 1:300 diluted fluorochrome-conjugated secondary antibody Alexa Fluor 488 goat anti-mouse IgG (Dianova, Germany). Three independent assays for each sample were analyzed with a BD AccuriTM C6 Cytometer (BD Biosciences, USA).

Pro-Implantation Cytokine IL-1β Treatment

To form a complete endometrial monolayer, RL95-2 cells were firstly cultured in T25 flask with or without 20 ng/ml recombinant human IL-1 β (R&D Systems, USA) for 48h to yield enough number of cells. These treated and untreated cells were then subcultured into 6-well plates at a density of 10⁶ per well for flow cytometry detection after 48 h, or into 8-well chamber slides for immunocytochemistry (10⁵ per well) and *in vitro* implantation assay (2×10⁵ per well) after 48h with or without IL-1 β treatment. Thus, RL95-2 cells were continuously treated with IL-1 β for 4 days in total.

Immunocytochemistry (ICC)

The IL-1 β treated RL95-2 cells for immunostaining were prepared in 8-well chamber slides as above explained. Cells on the slides were fixed with ethanol/methanol solution for 15 min. Following steps using ZytoChem Plus HRP Polymer System reagents were the same as immunohistochemical staining except in the last step, slides were not rehydrated in ascending ethanol gradients and were covered with Aquatex[®] mounting medium (Merck, Germany).

In Vitro Implantation Assay

The RL95-2 cell monolayers were prepared in 8-well chamber slides as above explained. HTR-8/SVneo cells spheroids were created with modified hanging drops method (24). Briefly, 2×10^4 cells per 30 µL drop supplemented with regular culture medium were plated onto the lid of Petri dishes (40 drops/Petri lid). The lid was inverted over the bottom of Petri dish filled with 5ml DPBS. Hanging drops were cultured for 20 h until the spheroids were properly formed, not over aggregated. At the end of spheroids preparation, they were gently collected from the Petri lid to a 50ml Falcon tube and rinsed with complete culture medium. Spheroids suspension was then passed through 200 µm and 100 µm sieve size cell strainer (pluriSelect, Germany) to select spheroids of size between 100 and 200 µm which is similar to human implantation blastocysts.

Selected spheroids were gently transferred onto each well of confluent RL95-2 cells in 8-well chamber slides, and co-cultured for 2 h for adhesion. For the blockade experiment, RL95-2 monolayer cells were pretreated with different concentrations of anti-sLeA/LeX antibody or negative control IgG/M antibody (Dako, Denmark) for 1 h before co-culture. A total number of transferred spheroids in each well were firstly counted, then nonadherent spheroids were aspirated off, washed with DPBS twice and the number of attached spheroids was counted under microscope (Leica Microsystems, Germany). The results were presented as percentage of adhesion spheroids. All experiments were performed in three replicates on three separate days.

Statistical Analysis

Graphpad Prism 8 (Graphpad Software Inc., USA) was used to analyze statistical differences between groups. The normality of data was tested with Shapiro-Wilk's test. Two-tailed Student's *t*test (for normally distributed data) or Mann-Whitney U test (for non-normally distributed data) was performed for two groups comparison. *P* <0.05 was determined to be significant.

RESULTS

Upregulated Expression of Lewis Antigens and Associated Key Modulators in uRM

Lewis antigens expression localized mainly in the decidual luminal and glandular epithelium, sparsely in the stromal cells (**Figure 1**). To display the cellular localization of Lewis antigens in the epithelial cells more precisely, double immunofluorescent staining of sLeA and epithelial marker EpCAM (Epithelial cell adhesion molecule) was performed. As the confocal images indicate, sLeA localizes at the apical membrane of epithelial cells (**Figure 2**). The expression of sLeA and LeX both were prominently higher in the RM group than the NC group (P < 0.05 and P < 0.01, respectively). While sLeX and LeY showed no significant differences between groups.

Cellular glycan maintenance is a complex process, in which FUTs and STs are responsible for the synthesis of fucose residues and sialic acid, while NEUs catalyze the removal of sialic acid moieties (**Figure 3**). To identify the molecular mechanism





underlying dysregulated Lewis antigens in uRM, we also evaluated the expression of pertinent glycosyltransferases FUT1/3/4, ST3GAL3/4/6, and NEU1. Here, we found these glycosyltransferases were expressed in both stromal and epithelial cells, and generally higher in the RM group except FUT1 (**Figure 4**). FUT3 and FUT4 were significantly higher in the RM group than the NC group (both P < 0.05). Similarly, ST3GAL3 and ST3GAL4 in the RM group were prominently higher than the NC group (P < 0.01 and P < 0.05, respectively). Notably, FUT1 expression was significantly higher in the NC group than the RM group (P < 0.05). ST3GAL6 and NEU1 were slightly higher in the RM group, but the differences were not prominent (P = 0.083 and P = 0.084, respectively). Negative controls staining is shown in **Supplementary Figure 1**.

Spheroids Formation, Adhesion and Selectins Expression in HTR-8/SVneo Cells

Plenty of spheroids were formed after 20 h culture with modified hanging drops method (**Figure 5A**). After co-cultured for 2 h for adhesion, cell strainer selected spheroids ($100 - 200 \mu m$) attached to the confluent RL95-2 cells (**Figure 5B**). Lewis antigens putative ligands E, L, and P selectins could be detected in HTR-8/SVneo cells by immunofluorescent staining (**Figure 5C**).

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org



FIGURE 2 | Cellular localization of sLeA in epithelial cells of placenta tissue. sLeA (green) and epithelial cell marker EpCAM (red) were double stained, the confocal images show that sLeA localizes at the apical membrane of epithelial cells as white arrows indicate.



Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org



Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

June 2022 | Volume 13 | Article 919193

Upregulated Lewis Antigens in uRM Decidua



FIGURE 5 | Spheroids formation, adhesion, and selectins expression in HTR-8/SVneo cells. (A) HTR-8/SVneo cells spheroids were created with the modified hanging drops method, 2×10⁴ cells per 30 µL drop supplemented with regular culture medium were plated onto the lid of Petri dishes (40 drops/Petri lid). Plerity of spheroids were formed after 20 h culture. (B) Cell strainer selected spheroids (100 - 200 µm) were gently transferred onto each well of confluent RL95-2 cells in 8-well chamber sldes, and oc-cultured for 2 h for adhesion. (C) Expression of Lewis antigens putative ligands E, L, and P selectins in HTR-8/SVneo cells detected by immunofluorescent staining.

FUT3 Knockdown Decreased sLeA Expression and Spheroids Attachment in RL95-2 Cells

Modulatory effect of FUT3 on the expression of Lewis antigens in RL95-2 cells was confirmed by siRNA knockdown experiments (**Figure 6**). Expression of cell surface sLeA was decreased after FUT3 knockdown in RL95-2 cells (P < 0.05, **Figure 6B**), while the expression level of LeX remained unchanged (**Figure 6C**). The percentage of attachment of HTR-8/SVneo spheroids to endometrial monolayers was also significantly suppressed by FUT3 knockdown (P < 0.01, **Figure 6D**).

Anti-sLeA Suppressed IL-1β Induced Trophoblast Spheroid Attachment to Endometrial Cells

To clarify the involvement of sLeA and LeX in the process of blastocyst adhesion, specific antibody blockade was applied in the *in vitro* implantation assay. Blocking sLeA with anti-sLeA antibody significantly suppressed the attachment of spheroids to endometrial monolayers, while the blockade efficacy showed no differences between 20 and 40 μ g/ml antibody concentration (**Figure 7A**). Anti-LeX antibody slightly suppressed spheroid attachment but the difference was found to be not significant



(MF) is used for statistical analysis, numbers inside the frame denote the positive cells (%) in a representative experiment. (**D**) *In vitro* implantation assay suggesting suppressed trophoblast spheroids adhesion to endometrial monolayer after the knockdown of FUT3 in RL95-2 cells, relative mean fluorescence intensity (MF) is used for statistical analysis, numbers inside the frame denote the positive cells (%) in a representative experiment. (**D**) *In vitro* implantation assay suggesting suppressed trophoblast spheroids adhesion to endometrial monolayer after the knockdown of FUT3 in RL95-2 cells. The total number of transferred spheroids in each well was firstly counted, then nonadherent spheroids were aspirated off, washed with DPBS twice and the number of attached spheroids was counted again under microscope. The results were presented as percentage of adhesion spheroids. Statistical analysis was performed in three independent experiments by *t* test. Error bars, S.E.M. si-NC, negative control siRNA. **P* < 0.05, **P* < 0.01.

(**Figure 7A**). Here, we also found that IL-1 β treatment markedly increased the trophoblast spheroids attachment to endometrial cells monolayers (*P* <0.0001, **Figure 7B**), confirming its function as an implantation promoting factor in the *in vitro* model. Interestingly, blocking sLeA could still suppress the IL-1 β induced attachment and the blockade efficacy also did not differ between 20 and 40 µg/ml antibody concentration.

Induction of LeX Expression in Endometrial Cells by IL-1 β

Influence of IL-1 β treatment on the expression of sLeA and LeX in endometrial cells was investigated by flow cytometry. We found significantly enhanced expression of LeX following stimulation with IL-1 β (P <0.0001), with a 1.74-fold increase in mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) values compared to untreated cells (**Figure 8A**). ICC staining also confirmed the induction of LeX expression in RL95-2 cells treated with IL-1 β (**Figure 8B**) while changes in the expression level of cell surface sLeA were not detected (**Figures 8C, D**).

DISCUSSION

Pregnancy is characterized by the intimate interactions between a competent embryo and a receptive endometrium. Appropriate blastocyst implantation is widely considered as a crucial factor for achieving successful pregnancy.

Monthly fecundity rates (MFRs) refer to the time taken to achieve pregnancy, which is used to measure the probability of conceiving within one menstrual cycle (25). The average MFR in humans is relatively low at around 20%, while studies have shown that 32-40% of women experiencing RM have exceptionally high pregnancy rates with MFR > 60% (8). However, increased pregnancy rates do not result in increased live birth rates but repeated miscarriages, this paradox leads to the hypothesis of impaired natural embryo selection in RM (4). Biopsies analysis of mid-secretory endometrium from RM revealed decreased expression of mucin 1, an anti-adhesion molecule that maintains the barrier function of endometrial surface (26). In vitro decidualization of ESCs from RM manifested by attenuated production of prolactin and enhanced expression of prokinectin-1, a cytokine that facilitates implantation (27). Moreover, ESCs from RM cannot distinguish trophoblast signals between high- and low-quality embryos, resulting in increased migration behavior than normal fertile women (10). Thus, impaired endometrial barrier, aberrant decidualization associated prolonged "window" of receptivity, and less selective decidual phenotype in RM together allow the implantation of low viable embryos which are destined to fail.



continuously cultured at the presence of IL-1β (20ng/m) for 4 d before the *in vitro* implantation and blockade assay. IL-1β treatment markedly increased the trophoblast spheroids attachment, and the induced attachment could be dramatically suppressed by anti-sLeA antibody. Statistical analysis was performed in three independent experiments by *t* test. Error bars, S.E.M. ***P* < 0.001, ****P* < 0.0001.

Glycoconjugates at the fetomaternal interface play a vital role in mediating the adhesion of blastocyst to the endometrium. SLeA and sLeX are common selectin oligosaccharide ligands, their expression in the endometrium reaches the highest level during the window of implantation (12). Similarly, LeY was highest expressed in the mid-secretory phase during menstrual

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

Upregulated Lewis Antigens in uRM Decidua

cycle, while expression of LeX peaked at early- to midproliferative phases (28). Biosynthesis of Lewis antigens requires the sequential addition of sialic acid and fucose by α 2-3 STs and FUTs, respectively (22). Genbacev et al. firstly clarified the role of L-selectin/sLeX adhesion system in trophoblast implantation (18). Later functional studies showed that both ST3GAL3 and FUT7 transfection could facilitate the embryo adhesion through upregulating sLeX (19, 29, 30). Integrin $\alpha\nu\beta3$, biomarker of endometrial receptivity, was reported to be the carrier of LeY, and knocking down FUT4 significantly decreased the adhesion of trophoblast JAR cells to RL95-2 cells by reducing the expression of LeY (20).

Despite the fact that sLeX and LeY play important roles in blastocysts adhesion, our study found no alterations of their expression in the decidua of RM patients, but sLeA and LeX showed dramatic upregulation. SLeA has been intensively studied in various cancers, it promotes the metastasis and malignant transformation by interacting with selectins (14). Similar to sLeX, highest level of sLeA in the endometrium through menstrual cycle is also noticed during the implantation stage, while its significance in the process of human implantation is not fully understood. Our in vitro implantation assay showed that anti-sLeA can prominently inhibit the adhesion of trophoblast spheroids to endometrial monolayers, indicating that sLeA also mediates the blastocyst implantation process. Thus, aberrantly elevated sLeA may be a novel marker for the hyper-receptive/less selective endometrium in RM. LeX is a carbohydrate cell adhesion molecule, it plays a crucial role in human embryogenesis and neutrophil transepithelial migration (31, 32). Upregulated LeX usually leads to metastasis and decreased survival in a variety of cancers (33-35). While the absence of LeX on human glioma cells is thought to be the reason that extraneural metastasis of brain tumors is rare (36). LeX expression was also identified in the normal endometrium and can be upregulated by progesterone (37). To test whether LeX is involved in trophoblast adhesion, anti-LeX antibody was used in the in vitro implantation assay, while no significant decrease was shown in the spheroids adhesion. This might explain why the highest expression of LeX in the endometrium does not occur at the implantation stage during menstrual cycle. Meanwhile, we also noticed that the basal expression of LeX in RL95-2 cells is around 10% (LeX positive cells) as flow cytometry detected (Figure 8A), thus model with RL95-2 cells may not adequately represent LeX expression usually found in receptive endometrium thereby confounding the results of the spheroids adhesion assay. The potential significance of LeX in blastocyst implantation should not be completely excluded, further investigations are merited.

The expression of potential glycosyltransferases FUTs, $\alpha 2$ -3 STs, and NEUs were also validated in the decidua of RM. FUT3/4 and ST3GAL3/4 were significantly upregulated in the RM group, while FUT1 was downregulated. ST3GAL6 and NEU1 did not prominently differ between groups. FUT3 is the only fucosyltransferase that generates sLeA through an $\alpha 1$ -4 linkage addition of fucose moieties (38). Hepatitis B virus X protein





targets FUT3 for the production of sLeA (39). FUT3 was identified as the key enzyme for sLeA synthesis in human intestinal epithelial cells (IECs), its transfection of sLeA-deficient IECs resulted in robust expression of sLeA (40). Here we also found significantly upregulated FUT3 in the decidua of RM and FUT3 knockdown in RL95-2 cells decreased the cell surface expression of sLeA and suppressed the spheroids adhesion, which indicate that FUT3 may account for the aberrantly elevated sLeA and endometrial hyper-receptivity in RM. FUT3 also exhibits α I-3 fucosyltransferase activity that contributes to sLeX expression (11, 41). While upregulated FUT3 in the decidua of RM does not result in higher expression of sLeX as displayed in our study, this might be explained by different catalytic preferences of α I-3 FUTs in different diseases (14).

Other α 1-3 FUTs like FUT5/6/7/9, which also contribute to the synthesis of sLeX, were not extensively investigated in this study but might be the main modulators for sLeX at the fetomaternal interface. As a member of the human neuraminidases family, NEU1 catalyzes the removal of sialic acid moieties from glycoproteins and glycolipids, it dramatically enhances LeX production *via* sLeX desialylation during human myeloid differentiation (17). Expression of NEU1 in the RM group was mildly elevated but did not significantly differ from the NC group (P = 0.084), which is probably due to the relatively small sample sizes. Whether NEU1 is really upregulated in RM and collaborates with FUT3 results in balanced sLeX and enhanced LeX expression needs to be revealed in larger studies. Besides, α 1-3 FUTs including FUT3 and FUT4 can directly catalyze the

Ma et al.

synthesis of LeX by adding fucose to the N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) residue of glycans through an α 1-3 linkage (38, 42). FUT4 expression in the endometrium is dynamically changing during menstrual cycle and reaches the highest level during implantation stage, progesterone shows dramatical induction of FUT4 expression (43). While FUT3 knockdown did not affect the expression level of LeX in RL95-2 cells, other α 1-3 FUTs, like elevated FUT4 may explain the higher expression of LeX and contribute to the hyper-receptive endometrium in RM. In the synthesis of LeY, FUT1 mediates the first fucose addition to GlcNAc catalyzed by FUT3/4 (**Figure 3**), upregulated FUT3/4 and downregulated FUT1 in the decidua may result in an unchanged level of LeY in RM.

ST3GAL3/4/6 belongs to the α 2-3 STs family that catalyzes the addition of sialic acid to the Gal residue of glycans, yielding sLeA/X (11, 15, 44-46). In humans, ST3GAL3 exhibits a preferential effect on type I disaccharides for the synthesis of sLeA (47). ST3GAL3 expression in the endometrium at secretory phase is significantly higher than the proliferative phase, its downregulation decreases the adhesion of trophoblast cells to endometrial cells (30). ST3GAL4 has been reported to be the major STs regulating sLeX in human myeloid leukocytes (48). This study found prominently higher expression of ST3GAL3/4, but not ST3GAL6, in RM than the control group, which might be also responsible for elevated sLeA expression. Notably, FUTs and STs compete for the same substrate, selective inhibition of fucose addition facilitates greater sialylation (11, 48, 49). Therefore, downregulation of FUT1 may not only maintains the stable level of LeY, but could potentially also allow for more substrates to be modified into LeX and sLeA by FUT3/4 and ST3GAL3/4, respectively.

IL-1 β was reported to play pivotal roles in human embryo implantation and has been widely acknowledged as a proimplantation cytokine (50), it induces endometrial expression of adhesion molecule integrin β 3 and promotes the extravillous motility (51, 52). Since anti-sLeA blocked the adhesion of trophoblast to endometrial monolayers at a basal level, we further investigated if anti-sLeA could also exert anti adhesion effect at the presence of IL-1B stimulation. Importantly, while IL-1β treatment of RL95-2 cells, in line with previous studies, significantly enhanced the spheroids adhesion rate, anti-sLeA did partially block the IL-1 β induced adhesion. Proinflammatory cytokines induced glycosylation alterations have been reported in many studies, IL-8 induces sLeA expression in human pancreatic cancer cells (53), TNF-α stimulation prominently increases sLeA reactivity in gastric adenocarcinoma cells while IL-1ß results in mild enhancement of sLeA and LeX but does not reach significance (54). In this study, IL-1 β treatment of RL95-2 cells showed no alterations in sLeA while significant increase in LeX expression. Hence, sLeA expression is independent of IL-1 β signaling but anti-sLeA still exerts sufficient blockade effect on IL-1ß induced trophoblast adhesion. This further elucidated the crucial role of sLeA in blastocyst adhesion and anti-sLeA in attenuating the hyperreceptive endometrium in RM. IL-1ß induced LeX expression may suggest that previously reported elevated IL-1 β in both endometrium and decidua of RM could be a trigger of the upregulated LeX observed in this study (55, 56).

In summary, this study demonstrates a remarkably elevated glycosylation status in the decidua of uRM patients manifested by prominently upregulated sLeA, LeX, FUT3/4, and ST3GAL3/4, which might contribute to the hyper-receptive/less selective endometrium in RM. Involvement of sLeA in the process of blastocyst adhesion is also deciphered with *in vitro* implantation model. Targeting aberrantly elevated sLeA may be applied as a potential strategy to restore the inappropriate implantation in uRM.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of LMU Munich. The patients/ participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

UJ and VS conceived of the study and participated in its design and coordination. ZM performed the experiments and statistical analysis and wrote the manuscript. HY and MK performed technical assistance in immunohistochemistry and cell culture experiments. MK, MS, SM, and UJ revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors appreciate the expert technical assistance of Christina Kuhn and Martina Rahmeh. The authors also thank the Biomedical Center (BMC) Bioimaging Core Facility for access to the imaging equipment. ZM acknowledges the China Scholarship Council (CSC) for supporting his study in LMU Munich.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2022.919193/ full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Dimitriadis E, Menkhorst E, Saito S, Kutteh WH, Brosens JJ. Recurrent Pregnancy Loss. Nat Rev Dis Primers (2020) 6:98. doi: 10.1038/s41572-020-00228-z
- van Dijk MM, Kolte AM, Limpens J, Kirk E, Quenby S, van Wely M, et al. Recurrent Pregnancy Loss: Diagnostic Workup After Two or Three Pregnancy Losses? A Systematic Review of the Literature and Meta-Analysis. Hum Reprod Update (2020) 26:356–67. doi: 10.1093/humupd/ dmz048
- Alijotas-Reig J, Garrido-Gimenez C. Current Concepts and New Trends in the Diagnosis and Management of Recurrent Miscarriage. *Obstet Gynecol Surv* (2013) 68:445–66. doi: 10.1097/OGX.0b013e31828aca19
- Quenby S, Vince G, Farquharson R, Aplin J. Recurrent Miscarriage: A Defect in Nature's Quality Control? Hum Reprod (Oxford England) (2002) 17:1959– 63. doi: 10.1093/humrep/17.8.1959
- Teklenburg G, Salker M, Heijnen C, Macklon NS, Brosens JJ. The Molecular Basis of Recurrent Pregnancy Loss: Impaired Natural Embryo Selection. *Mol Hum Reprod* (2010) 16:886–95. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gaq079
- Larsen EC, Christiansen OB, Kolte AM, Macklon N. New Insights Into Mechanisms Behind Miscarriage. BMC Med (2013) 11:154. doi: 10.1186/ 1741-7015-11-154
- Macklon NS, Brosens JJ. The Human Endometrium as a Sensor of Embryo Quality. *Biol Reprod* (2014) 91:98. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.114.122846
- Coulam C. What About Superfertility, Decidualization, and Natural Selection? J Assisted Reprod Genet (2016) 33:577–80. doi: 10.1007/s10815-016-0658-8
- Teklenburg G, Salker M, Molokhia M, Lavery S, Trew G, Aojanepong T, et al. Natural Selection of Human Embryos: Decidualizing Endometrial Stromal Cells Serve as Sensors of Embryo Quality Upon Implantation. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e10258. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010258
- Weimar CH, Kavelaars A, Brosens JJ, Gellersen B, de Vreeden-Elbertse JM, Heijnen CJ, et al. Endometrial Stromal Cells of Women With Recurrent Miscarriage Fail to Discriminate Between High- and Low-Quality Human Embryos. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e41424. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041424
- Sakuma K, Aoki M, Kannagi R. Transcription Factors C-Myc and CDX2 Mediate E-Selectin Ligand Expression in Colon Cancer Cells Undergoing EGF/bFGF-Induced Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* S A (2012) 109:7776–81. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1111135109
- Hey NA, Aplin JD. Sialyl-Lewis X and Sialyl-Lewis a are Associated With MUC1 in Human Endometrium. *Glycoconjugate J* (1996) 13:769–79. doi: 10.1007/BF00702341
- Pang PC, Chiu PC, Lee CL, Chang LY, Panico M, Morris HR, et al. Human Sperm Binding is Mediated by the Sialyl-Lewis(x) Oligosaccharide on the Zona Pellucida. *Sci (New York NY)* (2011) 333:1761–4. doi: 10.1126/ science.1207438
- Blanas A, Sahasrabudhe NM, Rodriguez E, van Kooyk Y, van Vliet SJ. Fucosylated Antigens in Cancer: An Alliance Toward Tumor Progression, Metastasis, and Resistance to Chemotherapy. *Front Oncol* (2018) 8:39. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00039
- Glavey SV, Manier S, Natoni A, Sacco A, Moschetta M, Reagan MR, et al. The Sialyltransferase ST3GAL6 Influences Homing and Survival in Multiple Myeloma. *Blood* (2014) 124:1765–76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-03-560862
- Shiozaki K, Yamaguchi K, Takahashi K, Moriya S, Miyagi T. Regulation of Sialyl Lewis Antigen Expression in Colon Cancer Cells by Sialidase NEU4. *J Biol Chem* (2011) 286:21052–61. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.231191
- Gadhoum SZ, Sackstein R. CD15 Expression in Human Myeloid Cell Differentiation is Regulated by Sialidase Activity. Nat Chem Biol (2008) 4:751–7. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.116
- Genbacev OD, Prakobphol A, Foulk RA, Krtolica AR, Ilic D, Singer MS, et al. Trophoblast L-Selectin-Mediated Adhesion at the Maternal-Fetal Interface. Sci (New York NY) (2003) 299:405–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1079546
- Zhang Y, Liu S, Liu Y, Wang Z, Wang X, Yan Q. Overexpression of Fucosyltransferase VII (FUT7) Promotes Embryo Adhesion and Implantation. Fertility sterility (2009) 91:908-14. doi: 10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2007.12.012
- 20. Zhang D, Wei J, Wang J, Liu S, Wang X, Yan Q. Difucosylated Oligosaccharide Lewis Y is Contained Within Integrin Alphavbeta3 on

Frontiers in Immunology | www.frontiersin.org

Upregulated Lewis Antigens in uRM Decidua

RL95-2 Cells and Required for Endometrial Receptivity. Fertility sterility (2011) 95:1446-51.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.04.036

- Kolben TM, Rogatsch E, Hester A, Kuhn C, Schmoeckel E, Czogalla B, et al. Involvement of ILR4 Alpha and TLR4 in Miscarriages. J Reprod Immunol (2019) 131:36–43. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2018.12.001
- Ma Z, Yang H, Peng L, Kuhn C, Chelariu-Raicu A, Mahner S, et al. Expression of the Carbohydrate Lewis Antigen, Sialyl Lewis A, Sialyl Lewis X, Lewis X, and Lewis Y in the Placental Villi of Patients With Unexplained Miscarriages. Front Immunol (2021) 12:679424. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.679424
- Hannan NJ, Paiva P, Dimitriadis E, Salamonsen LA. Models for Study of Human Embryo Implantation: Choice of Cell Lines? *Biol Reprod* (2010) 82:235–45. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.109.077800
- Weber M, Knoefler I, Schleussner E, Markert UR, Fitzgerald JS. HTR8/SVneo Cells Display Trophoblast Progenitor Cell-Like Characteristics Indicative of Self-Renewal, Repopulation Activity, and Expression of "Stemness-" Associated Transcription Factors. *BioMed Res Int* (2013) 2013:243649. doi: 10.1155/2013/243649
- Evers JL. Female Subfertility. Lancet (London England) (2002) 360:151–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)09417-5
- Aplin JD, Hey NA, Li TC. MUC1 as a Cell Surface and Secretory Component of Endometrial Epithelium: Reduced Levels in Recurrent Miscarriage. Am J Reprod Immunol (1996) 35:261–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1996.tb00042.x
- Salker M, Teklenburg G, Molokhia M, Lavery S, Trew G, Aojanepong T, et al. Natural Selection of Human Embryos: Impaired Decidualization of Endometrium Disables Embryo-Maternal Interactions and Causes Recurrent Pregnancy Loss. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e10287. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0010287
- Ravn V, Teglbjærg CS, Mandel U, Dabelsteen E. The Distribution of Type-2 Chain Histo-Blood Group Antigens in Normal Cycling Human Endometrium. *Cell Tissue Res* (1992) 270:425–33. doi: 10.1007/BF00645043
- Liu SA, Yang XS, Liu YJ, Wang XQ, Yan Q. Slex/L-Selectin Mediates Adhesion In Vitro Implantation Model. Mol Cell Biochem (2011) 350:185– 92. doi: 10.1007/s11010-010-0697-x
- Yu M, Wang H, Liu J, Qin H, Liu S, Yan Q. The Sialyltransferase ST3Gal3 Facilitates the Receptivity of the Uterine Endometrium In Vitro and In Vivo. FEBS Lett (2018) 592:3696–707. doi: 10.1002/1873-3468.13252
- Liu S, Liu H, Tang S, Pan Y, Ji K, Ning H, et al. Characterization of Stage-Specific Embryonic Antigen-1 Expression During Early Stages of Human Embryogenesis. Oncol Rep (2004) 12:1251–6. doi: 10.3892/or.12.6.1251
- 32. Brazil JC, Sumagin R, Cummings RD, Louis NA, Parkos CA. Targeting of Neutrophil Lewis X Blocks Transepithelial Migration and Increases Phagocytosis and Degranulation. Am J Pathol (2016) 186:297–311. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.10.015
- Kim YS, Itzkowitz SH, Yuan M, Chung Y, Satake K, Umeyama K, et al. Lex and Ley Antigen Expression in Human Pancreatic Cancer. *Cancer Res* (1988) 48:475–82.
- Jang TJ, Park JB, Lee JI. The Expression of CD10 and CD15 Is Progressively Increased During Colorectal Cancer Development. *Korean J Pathol* (2013) 47:340–7. doi: 10.4132/KoreanJPathol.2013.47.4.340
- Koh YW, Lee HJ, Ahn JH, Lee JW, Gong G. Expression of Lewis X is Associated With Poor Prognosis in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. Am J Clin Pathol (2013) 139:746–53. doi: 10.1309/AJCP2E6QNDIDPTTC
- Martin K, Akinwunmi J, Rooprai HK, Kennedy AJ, Linke A, Ognjenovic N, et al. Nonexpression of CD15 by Neoplastic Glia: A Barrier to Metastasis? *Anticancer Res* (1995) 15:1159–66.
- Li H, Kong Y, Yan B. Regulation by Ovarian Hormones of Alpha 1,3-Fucosyltransferase Gene (FUT9) Expression in Human Endometrium. Sheng Wu Hua Xue Yu Sheng Wu Wu Li Xue Bao (Shanghai) (2002) 34:775-9.
- Engle DD, Tiriac H, Rivera KD, Pommier A, Whalen S, Oni TE, et al. The Glycan CA19-9 Promotes Pancreatitis and Pancreatic Cancer in Mice. Sci (New York NY) (2019) 364:1156–62. doi: 10.1126/science.aaw3145
- Chung TW, Kim SJ, Choi HJ, Song KH, Jin UH, Yu DY, et al. Hepatitis B Virus X Protein Specially Regulates the Sialyl Lewis a Synthesis Among Glycosylation Events for Metastasis. *Mol Cancer* (2014) 13:222. doi: 10.1186/ 1476-4598-13-222
- Brazil JC, Liu R, Sumagin R, Kolegraff KN, Nusrat A, Cummings RD, et al. Alpha3/4 Fucosyltransferase 3-Dependent Synthesis of Sialyl Lewis A on

CD44 Variant Containing Exon 6 Mediates Polymorphonuclear Leukocyte Detachment From Intestinal Epithelium During Transepithelial Migration. *J Immunol* (2013) 191:4804–17. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301307

- Walker MR, Goel HL, Mukhopadhyay D, Chhoy P, Karner ER, Clark JL, et al. O-Linked Alpha2,3 Sialylation Defines Stem Cell Populations in Breast Cancer. Sci Adv (2022) 8:eabj9513. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.abj9513
- Wang C, Huang C, Gu Y, Zhou Y, Zhu Z, Zhang Y. Biosynthesis and Distribution of Lewis X- and Lewis Y-Containing Glycoproteins in the Murine Male Reproductive System. *Glycobiology* (2011) 21:225–34. doi: 10.1093/glycob/cwq152
- Ponnampalam AP, Rogers PA. Expression and Regulation of Fucosyltransferase 4 in Human Endometrium. *Reproduction* (2008) 136:117-23. doi: 10.1530/REP-07-0548
- 44. Carvalho AS, Harduin-Lepers A, Magalhaes A, Machado E, Mendes N, Costa LT, et al. Differential Expression of Alpha-2,3-Sialyltransferases and Alpha-1,3/4-Fucosyltransferases Regulates the Levels of Sialyl Lewis X in Gastrointestinal Carcinoma Cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol (2010) 42:80–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biocd.2009.09.010
- Hu H, Eggers K, Chen W, Garshasbi M, Motazacker MM, Wrogemann K, et al. ST3GAL3 Mutations Impair the Development of Higher Cognitive Functions. *Am J Hum Genet* (2011) 89:407–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.08.008
- Yang WH, Nussbaum C, Grewal PK, Marth JD, Sperandio M. Coordinated Roles of ST3Gal-VI and ST3Gal-IV Sialyltransferases in the Synthesis of Selectin Ligands. *Blood* (2012) 120:1015–26. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-04-4224366
- Kitagawa H, Paulson JC. Cloning and Expression of Human Gal Beta 1,3(4) GlcNAc Alpha 2,3-Sialyltransferase. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (1993) 194:375–82. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1993.1830
- Mondal N, Buffone AJr., Stolfa G, Antonopoulos A, Lau JT, Haslam SM, et al. ST3Gal-4 is the Primary Sialyltransferase Regulating the Synthesis of E-, P-, and L-Selectin Ligands on Human Myeloid Leukocytes. *Blood* (2015) 125:687–96. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-07-588590
- Rillahan CD, Antonopoulos A, Lefort CT, Sonon R, Azadi P, Ley K, et al. Global Metabolic Inhibitors of Sialyl- and Fucosyltransferases Remodel the Glycome. Nat Chem Biol (2012) 8:661–8. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.999
- Herrler A, von Rango U, Beier HM. Embryo-Maternal Signalling: How the Embryo Starts Talking to its Mother to Accomplish Implantation. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2003) 6:244–56. doi: 10.1016/s1472-6483(10)61717-8
- Gonzalez RR, Rueda BR, Ramos MP, Littell RD, Glasser S, Leavis PC. Leptin-Induced Increase in Leukemia Inhibitory Factor and its Receptor by Human

Endometrium is Partially Mediated by Interleukin 1 Receptor Signaling. Endocrinology (2004) 145:3850-7. doi: 10.1210/en.2004-0383

Upregulated Lewis Antigens in uRM Decidua

- Prutsch N, Fock V, Haslinger P, Haider S, Fiala C, Pollheimer J, et al. The Role of Interleukin-1beta in Human Trophoblast Motility. *Placenta* (2012) 33:696– 703. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.05.008
- Miyamoto M, Shimizu Y, Okada K, Kashii Y, Higuchi K, Watanabe A. Effect of Interleukin-8 on Production of Tumor-Associated Substances and Autocrine Growth of Human Liver and Pancreatic Cancer Cells. Cancer Immunol Immunother (1998) 47:47–57. doi: 10.1007/s002620050503
- Grohmann GP, Schirmacher P, Manzke O, Hanisch FG, Dienes HP, Baldus SE. Modulation of MUC1 and Blood Group Antigen Expression in Gastric Adenocarcinoma Cells by Cytokines. *Cytokine* (2003) 23:86–93. doi: 10.1016/ s1043-4666(03)00202-3
- D'Ippolito S, Tersigni C, Marana R, Di Nicuolo F, Gaglione R, Rossi ED, et al. Inflammosome in the Human Endometrium: Further Step in the Evaluation of the "Matemal Side". *Fertility sterility* (2016) 105:111–8 e1-4. doi: 10.1016/ i.fertnstert.2015.09.027
- Lob S, Amann N, Kuhn C, Schmoeckel E, Wockel A, Zati Zehni A, et al. Interleukin-1 Beta is Significantly Upregulated in the Decidua of Spontaneous and Recurrent Miscarriage Placentas. J Reprod Immunol (2021) 144:103283. doi: 10.1016/i,jri.2021.103283

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ma, Yang, Kessler, Sperandio, Mahner, Jeschke and von Schönfeldt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

7. Summary

In Paper I, by using GSEA and Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway analysis, we demonstrate markedly downregulated glycosylation-related signatures and adhesion molecules, but enhanced inflammatory response in the placental villi of uRM. Accordingly, attenuated expression of sLeA, sLeX, LeX, and LeY in the villous syncytiotrophoblast of patients with unexplained miscarriages are further identified through IHC staining. Involvement of key enzymes like ST3GAL6 and NEU1 may contribute to these alterations. Furthermore, pathways network visualization by Metascape analysis indicates that immune system process like leukocyte adhesion and migration are significantly related to the altered glycoprotein metabolic process in uRM. Interestingly, prominently diminished villous vessels have been also observed in the miscarriage patients. Collectively, these results suggest that aberrant Lewis antigens expression may actuate miscarriages by affecting both trophoblast and leukocytes functions as well as the vascularization of the villi. Nevertheless, the exact underlying mechanisms merit further investigations.

While Paper II indicates that the expression pattern of Lewis antigens in uRM decidua is significantly different from that in the placental villi: sLeA, LeX, FUT3/4, and ST3GAL3/4 are upregulated in the uRM compared with the control group, while FUT1 is downregulated. IHC and IF staining reveal that Lewis antigens mainly locate at the apical membrane of luminal and glandular epithelial cells, while key enzymes FUTs, ST3GALs, and NEU1 are expressed in both epithelial and stromal cells. The in vitro human embryo implantation model using endometrial RL95-2 cells formed monolayer and trophoblastic HTR-8/SVneo cells spheroids has been well established. FUT3 knockdown in RL95-2 cells significantly suppressed the cell surface sLeA expression and the spheroids attachment to endometrial monolayer, while surface LeX expression is not influenced. Anti-sLeA antibody can remarkably inhibit both the basal and IL-1β induced spheroids attachment to the endometrial monolayer. In addition, flow cytometry detection demonstrated that cell surface LeX, but not sLeA, is significantly

induced in IL-1 β treated RL95-2 cells. In conclusion, upregulated sLeA, LeX, FUT3/4 and ST3GAL3/4 might be related to the hyper-receptive endometrium of uRM patients. FUT3 contributes to the biosynthesis of sLeA in RL95-2 cells and affects the endometrial receptivity. Pro-inflammatory cytokine IL-1 β stimulate the expression of LeX in endometrial cells, though sLeA is not influenced, targeting aberrantly elevated sLeA might be a starting point to address inappropriate implantation in uRM.

8. Zusammenfassung

In der Veröffentlichung I zeigen wir unter Verwendung von GSEA und der Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Pathway-Analyse deutlich herunterregulierte glykosylierungsbezogene Signaturen und Adhäsionsmoleküle, aber eine verstärkte Entzündungsreaktion in den Zotten von Plazenten nach einem rezidivierenden Abort (uRM). Dementsprechend wird die abgeschwächte Expression von sLeA, sLeX, LeX und LeY im Syncytiotrophoblast von Patienten mit uRM weiter durch immunhistochemische (IHC) Färbung identifiziert. Die Beteiligung von Schlüsselenzymen wie ST3GAL6 und NEU1 kann zu diesen mit Hilfe der IHC gefundenen Veränderungen beitragen. Darüber hinaus zeigt die Visualisierung des Netzwerks von Signalwegen durch Metascape-Analyse, dass Prozesse des Immunsystems wie Leukozytenadhäsion und -migration signifikant mit dem veränderten Glykoprotein-Stoffwechselprozess in uRM zusammenhängen. Interessanterweise wurden auch bei Patientinnen mit ungeklärten Fehlgeburten deutlich verminderte Zottengefäße beobachtet. Zusammengenommen legen diese Ergebnisse nahe, dass eine abweichende Expression von Lewis-Antigenen das Auftreten von Fehlgeburten auslösen könnte, indem sowohl die Trophoblastenund Leukozytenfunktionen als auch die Vaskularisierung der Zotten eingeschränkt werden. Dennoch verdienen die genauen zugrunde liegenden Mechanismen weitere Untersuchungen.

In der Veröffentlichung II weisen wir darauf hin, dass sich das Expressionsmuster der Lewis-Antigene in uRM decidua signifikant von dem in den Plazentazotten unterscheidet: sLeA, LeX, FUT3/4 und ST3GAL3/4 sind im uRM im Vergleich zur Kontrollgruppe hochreguliert, während FUT1 herunterreguliert ist. IHC- und IF-Färbung zeigen, dass sich Lewis-Antigene hauptsächlich an der apikalen Membran von luminalen und Drüsenepithelzellen befinden, während die Schlüsselenzyme FUTs, ST3GALs und NEU1 sowohl in Epithel- als auch in Stromazellen exprimiert werden. Das *in-vitro*-Implantationsmodell für menschliche Embryonen unter Verwendung von endometrialen RL95-2-Zellen, die eine Monoschicht bildeten, und trophoblastischen HTR-8/SVneo-Zellen-Sphäroiden, ist gut etabliert. Der FUT3-Knockdown in RL95-2-Zellen unterdrückte deutlich die Zelloberflächen-sLeA-Expression und die Sphäroidanhaftung an der Endometrium-Monoschicht, während die Oberflächen-LeX-Expression nicht beeinflusst wird. Anti-sLeA-Antikörper können sowohl die basale als auch die IL-1ß-induzierte Sphäroid-Anhaftung an die Endometrium-Monoschicht signifikant hemmen. Zusätzlich zeigte der Durchflusszytometrie-Nachweis, dass Zelloberflächen-LeX, aber nicht sLeA, signifikant in mit IL-1ß behandelten RL95-2-Zellen induziert wird. Zusammenfassend lässt sich sagen, dass hochreguliertes sLeA, LeX, FUT3/4 und ST3GAL3/4 mit dem hyperrezeptiven Endometrium von uRM-Patienten zusammenhängen könnten. FUT3 trägt zur Biosynthese von sLeA in RL95-2-Zellen bei und beeinflusst die Empfänglichkeit des Endometriums. Das entzündungsfördernde Zytokin IL-1ß stimuliert die LeX-Oberflächenexpression in Endometriumszellen. Obwohl sLeA nicht beeinflusst wird, könnte die Ausrichtung auf anormal erhöhte sLeA Expression als Ausgangspunkt dienen, um eine fehlerhafte Implantation in uRM anzuzeigen.

9. References

- Granot I, Gnainsky Y, Dekel N. Endometrial inflammation and effect on implantation improvement and pregnancy outcome. *Reproduction* 2012; 144:661-668.
- Challis JR, Lockwood CJ, Myatt L, Norman JE, Strauss JF, 3rd, Petraglia F. Inflammation and pregnancy. *Reprod Sci* 2009; 16:206-215.
- Laird SM, Tuckerman EM, Cork BA, Linjawi S, Blakemore AI, Li TC. A review of immune cells and molecules in women with recurrent miscarriage. *Hum Reprod Update* 2003; 9:163-174.
- Bulmer JN, Morrison L, Longfellow M, Ritson A, Pace D. Granulated lymphocytes in human endometrium: histochemical and immunohistochemical studies. *Hum Reprod* 1991; 6:791-798.
- Diaz-Hernandez I, Alecsandru D, Garcia-Velasco JA, Dominguez F. Uterine natural killer cells: from foe to friend in reproduction. *Hum Reprod Update* 2021; 27:720-746.
- Hiby SE, Apps R, Sharkey AM, Farrell LE, Gardner L, Mulder A, Claas FH, Walker JJ, Redman CW, Morgan L, Tower C, Regan L, et al. Maternal activating KIRs protect against human reproductive failure mediated by fetal HLA-C2. J Clin Invest 2010; 120:4102-4110.
- Eriksson M, Meadows SK, Wira CR, Sentman CL. Unique phenotype of human uterine NK cells and their regulation by endogenous TGF-beta. *J Leukoc Biol* 2004; **76**:667-675.
- Keskin DB, Allan DS, Rybalov B, Andzelm MM, Stern JN, Kopcow HD, Koopman LA, Strominger JL. TGFbeta promotes conversion of CD16+ peripheral blood NK cells into CD16- NK cells with similarities to decidual NK cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2007; 104:3378-3383.
- 9. Male V, Hughes T, McClory S, Colucci F, Caligiuri MA, Moffett A. Immature NK cells, capable of producing IL-22, are present in human uterine mucosa. *J*

Immunol 2010; 185:3913-3918.

- Hanna J, Goldman-Wohl D, Hamani Y, Avraham I, Greenfield C, Natanson-Yaron S, Prus D, Cohen-Daniel L, Arnon TI, Manaster I, Gazit R, Yutkin V, et al. Decidual NK cells regulate key developmental processes at the human fetalmaternal interface. *Nat Med* 2006; 12:1065-1074.
- Lash GE, Otun HA, Innes BA, Percival K, Searle RF, Robson SC, Bulmer JN. Regulation of extravillous trophoblast invasion by uterine natural killer cells is dependent on gestational age. *Hum Reprod* 2010; 25:1137-1145.
- Gardner L, Moffett A. Dendritic cells in the human decidua. *Biol Reprod* 2003;
 69:1438-1446.
- Renaud SJ, Graham CH. The role of macrophages in utero-placental interactions during normal and pathological pregnancy. *Immunol Invest* 2008; 37:535-564.
- Thomas JR, Naidu P, Appios A, McGovern N. The Ontogeny and Function of Placental Macrophages. *Front Immunol* 2021; 12:771054.
- 15. Huang SJ, Schatz F, Masch R, Rahman M, Buchwalder L, Niven-Fairchild T, Tang C, Abrahams VM, Krikun G, Lockwood CJ. Regulation of chemokine production in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines in first trimester decidual cells. *J Reprod Immunol* 2006; **72**:60-73.
- Gregory JL, Morand EF, McKeown SJ, Ralph JA, Hall P, Yang YH, McColl SR, Hickey MJ. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor induces macrophage recruitment via CC chemokine ligand 2. *J Immunol* 2006; 177:8072-8079.
- Jovanovic Krivokuca M, Vilotic A, Stefanoska I, Bojic-Trbojevic Z, Vicovac L. Macrophage migration inhibitory factor in human early pregnancy events and association with placental pathologies. *Placenta* 2021; 116:51-57.
- David Dong ZM, Aplin AC, Nicosia RF. Regulation of angiogenesis by macrophages, dendritic cells, and circulating myelomonocytic cells. *Curr Pharm Des* 2009; 15:365-379.
- 19. Jasper MJ, Care AS, Sullivan B, Ingman WV, Aplin JD, Robertson SA.

Macrophage-derived LIF and IL1B regulate alpha(1,2)fucosyltransferase 2 (Fut2) expression in mouse uterine epithelial cells during early pregnancy. *Biol Reprod* 2011; **84**:179-188.

- Nakamura H, Jasper MJ, Hull ML, Aplin JD, Robertson SA. Macrophages regulate expression of alpha1,2-fucosyltransferase genes in human endometrial epithelial cells. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2012; 18:204-215.
- Abrahams VM, Kim YM, Straszewski SL, Romero R, Mor G. Macrophages and apoptotic cell clearance during pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 2004; **51**:275-282.
- 22. van Mourik MS, Macklon NS, Heijnen CJ. Embryonic implantation: cytokines, adhesion molecules, and immune cells in establishing an implantation environment. *J Leukoc Biol* 2009; **85**:4-19.
- Blois SM, Kammerer U, Alba Soto C, Tometten MC, Shaikly V, Barrientos G, Jurd R, Rukavina D, Thomson AW, Klapp BF, Fernandez N, Arck PC. Dendritic cells: key to fetal tolerance? *Biol Reprod* 2007; 77:590-598.
- 24. Dietl J, Honig A, Kammerer U, Rieger L. Natural killer cells and dendritic cells at the human feto-maternal interface: an effective cooperation? *Placenta* 2006; 27:341-347.
- Moldenhauer LM, Hull ML, Foyle KL, McCormack CD, Robertson SA. Immune-Metabolic Interactions and T Cell Tolerance in Pregnancy. *J Immunol* 2022; 209:1426-1436.
- Rao VA, Kurian NK, Rao KA. Cytokines, NK cells and regulatory T cell functions in normal pregnancy and reproductive failures. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 2022:e13667.
- Wang W, Sung N, Gilman-Sachs A, Kwak-Kim J. T Helper (Th) Cell Profiles in Pregnancy and Recurrent Pregnancy Losses: Th1/Th2/Th9/Th17/Th22/Tfh Cells. *Front Immunol* 2020; 11:2025.
- 28. Arruvito L, Sanz M, Banham AH, Fainboim L. Expansion of CD4+CD25+and

FOXP3+ regulatory T cells during the follicular phase of the menstrual cycle: implications for human reproduction. *J Immunol* 2007; **178**:2572-2578.

- Robertson SA, Care AS, Moldenhauer LM. Regulatory T cells in embryo implantation and the immune response to pregnancy. *J Clin Invest* 2018; 128:4224-4235.
- Miyazaki S, Tsuda H, Sakai M, Hori S, Sasaki Y, Futatani T, Miyawaki T, Saito
 S. Predominance of Th2-promoting dendritic cells in early human pregnancy
 decidua. *J Leukoc Biol* 2003; 74:514-522.
- 31. Schumacher A, Wafula PO, Teles A, El-Mousleh T, Linzke N, Zenclussen ML, Langwisch S, Heinze K, Wollenberg I, Casalis PA, Volk HD, Fest S, et al. Blockage of heme oxygenase-1 abrogates the protective effect of regulatory T cells on murine pregnancy and promotes the maturation of dendritic cells. *PLoS One* 2012; 7:e42301.
- 32. Dimitriadis E, Menkhorst E, Saito S, Kutteh WH, Brosens JJ. Recurrent pregnancy loss. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* 2020; **6**:98.
- Ticconi C, Pietropolli A, Di Simone N, Piccione E, Fazleabas A. Endometrial Immune Dysfunction in Recurrent Pregnancy Loss. *Int J Mol Sci* 2019; 20.
- 34. Bender Atik R, Christiansen OB, Elson J, Kolte AM, Lewis S, Middeldorp S, Nelen W, Peramo B, Quenby S, Vermeulen N, Goddijn M. ESHRE guideline: recurrent pregnancy loss. *Hum Reprod Open* 2018; **2018**:hoy004.
- Von Woon E, Greer O, Shah N, Nikolaou D, Johnson M, Male V. Number and function of uterine natural killer cells in recurrent miscarriage and implantation failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update* 2022; 28:548-582.
- Makrigiannakis A, Petsas G, Toth B, Relakis K, Jeschke U. Recent advances in understanding immunology of reproductive failure. *J Reprod Immunol* 2011; 90:96-104.
- 37. Chen X, Liu Y, Cheung WC, Zhao Y, Huang J, Chung JPW, Wang CC, Li TC.

Increased expression of angiogenic cytokines in CD56+ uterine natural killer cells from women with recurrent miscarriage. *Cytokine* 2018; **110**:272-276.

- 38. Na KH, Lee HJ, Choi JH, Eun JW, Nam SW, Yoon TK, Kim GJ. Dynamic alterations in integrin alpha4 expression by hypoxia are involved in trophoblast invasion during early implantation. *J Cell Biochem* 2012; 113:685-694.
- Quenby S, Nik H, Innes B, Lash G, Turner M, Drury J, Bulmer J. Uterine natural killer cells and angiogenesis in recurrent reproductive failure. *Hum Reprod* 2009; 24:45-54.
- 40. Yan WH, Lin A, Chen BG, Zhou MY, Dai MZ, Chen XJ, Gan LH, Zhu M, Shi WW, Li BL. Possible roles of KIR2DL4 expression on uNK cells in human pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 2007; **57**:233-242.
- Sotnikova N, Voronin D, Antsiferova Y, Bukina E. Interaction of decidual CD56+ NK with trophoblast cells during normal pregnancy and recurrent spontaneous abortion at early term of gestation. *Scand J Immunol* 2014; 80:198-208.
- 42. Guo W, Fang L, Li B, Xiao X, Chen S, Wang J, Yang F, Chen L, Wang X. Decreased Human Leukocyte Antigen-G Expression by miR-133a Contributes to Impairment of Proinvasion and Proangiogenesis Functions of Decidual NK Cells. *Front Immunol* 2017; 8:741.
- Tsao FY, Wu MY, Chang YL, Wu CT, Ho HN. M1 macrophages decrease in the deciduae from normal pregnancies but not from spontaneous abortions or unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortions. *J Formos Med Assoc* 2018; 117:204-211.
- 44. Jin Y, Wang X, Xiao Y, Lv C, Ding C, Lin Q. The role of TSP-1 on decidual macrophages involved in the susceptibility to unexplained recurrent spontaneous abortion. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 2009; **61**:253-260.
- 45. Wang WJ, Hao CF, Lin QD. Dysregulation of macrophage activation by decidual regulatory T cells in unexplained recurrent miscarriage patients. J

Reprod Immunol 2011; **92**:97-102.

- Plaks V, Birnberg T, Berkutzki T, Sela S, BenYashar A, Kalchenko V, Mor G, Keshet E, Dekel N, Neeman M, Jung S. Uterine DCs are crucial for decidua formation during embryo implantation in mice. *J Clin Invest* 2008; 118:3954-3965.
- 47. Liu S, Wei H, Li Y, Huang C, Lian R, Xu J, Chen L, Zeng Y. Downregulation of ILT4(+) dendritic cells in recurrent miscarriage and recurrent implantation failure. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 2018; 80:e12998.
- 48. Piccinni MP, Beloni L, Livi C, Maggi E, Scarselli G, Romagnani S. Defective production of both leukemia inhibitory factor and type 2 T-helper cytokines by decidual T cells in unexplained recurrent abortions. *Nat Med* 1998; 4:1020-1024.
- Bates MD, Quenby S, Takakuwa K, Johnson PM, Vince GS. Aberrant cytokine production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells in recurrent pregnancy loss? *Hum Reprod* 2002; 17:2439-2444.
- 50. Chaouat G, Ledee-Bataille N, Zourbas S, Ostojic S, Dubanchet S, Martal J, Frydman R. Cytokines, implantation and early abortion: re-examining the Th1/Th2 paradigm leads to question the single pathway, single therapy concept. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 2003; **50**:177-186.
- 51. Lee SK, Kim JY, Hur SE, Kim CJ, Na BJ, Lee M, Gilman-Sachs A, Kwak-Kim J. An imbalance in interleukin-17-producing T and Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells in women with idiopathic recurrent pregnancy loss. *Hum Reprod* 2011; 26:2964-2971.
- 52. Sereshki N, Gharagozloo M, Ostadi V, Ghahiri A, Roghaei MA, Mehrabian F, Andalib AA, Hassanzadeh A, Hosseini H, Rezaei A. Variations in T-helper 17 and Regulatory T Cells during The Menstrual Cycle in Peripheral Blood of Women with Recurrent Spontaneous Abortion. *Int J Fertil Steril* 2014; 8:59-66.
- 53. Aluvihare VR, Kallikourdis M, Betz AG. Regulatory T cells mediate maternal tolerance to the fetus. *Nat Immunol* 2004; **5**:266-271.

- 54. Zenclussen AC, Gerlof K, Zenclussen ML, Sollwedel A, Bertoja AZ, Ritter T, Kotsch K, Leber J, Volk HD. Abnormal T-cell reactivity against paternal antigens in spontaneous abortion: adoptive transfer of pregnancy-induced CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells prevents fetal rejection in a murine abortion model. *Am J Pathol* 2005; 166:811-822.
- 55. Zhang XX, Kang XM, Zhao AM. Regulation of CD4(+)FOXP3(+) T cells by CCL20/CCR6 axis in early unexplained recurrent miscarriage patients. *Genet Mol Res* 2015; 14:9145-9154.
- 56. Saxena D, Misra MK, Parveen F, Phadke SR, Agrawal S. The transcription factor Forkhead Box P3 gene variants affect idiopathic recurrent pregnancy loss. *Placenta* 2015; 36:226-231.
- 57. Zidan HE, Abdul-Maksoud RS, Mowafy HE, Elsayed WSH. The association of IL-33 and Foxp3 gene polymorphisms with recurrent pregnancy loss in Egyptian women. *Cytokine* 2018; **108**:115-119.
- Brosens JJ, Bennett PR, Abrahams VM, Ramhorst R, Coomarasamy A, Quenby S, Lucas ES, McCoy RC. Maternal selection of human embryos in early gestation: Insights from recurrent miscarriage. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* 2022; 131:14-24.
- 59. Hassold T, Hunt P. To err (meiotically) is human: the genesis of human aneuploidy. *Nat Rev Genet* 2001; **2**:280-291.
- 60. Macklon NS, Brosens JJ. The human endometrium as a sensor of embryo quality. *Biol Reprod* 2014; **91**:98.
- Teklenburg G, Salker M, Molokhia M, Lavery S, Trew G, Aojanepong T, Mardon HJ, Lokugamage AU, Rai R, Landles C, Roelen BA, Quenby S, et al. Natural selection of human embryos: decidualizing endometrial stromal cells serve as sensors of embryo quality upon implantation. *PLoS One* 2010; 5:e10258.
- 62. Brosens JJ, Salker MS, Teklenburg G, Nautiyal J, Salter S, Lucas ES, Steel JH,

Christian M, Chan YW, Boomsma CM, Moore JD, Hartshorne GM, et al. Uterine selection of human embryos at implantation. *Sci Rep* 2014; **4**:3894.

- 63. Quenby S, Vince G, Farquharson R, Aplin J. Recurrent miscarriage: a defect in nature's quality control? *Hum Reprod* 2002; **17**:1959-1963.
- Teklenburg G, Salker M, Heijnen C, Macklon NS, Brosens JJ. The molecular basis of recurrent pregnancy loss: impaired natural embryo selection. *Molecular Human Reproduction* 2010; 16:886-895.
- 65. Weimar CH, Kavelaars A, Brosens JJ, Gellersen B, de Vreeden-Elbertse JM, Heijnen CJ, Macklon NS. Endometrial stromal cells of women with recurrent miscarriage fail to discriminate between high- and low-quality human embryos. *PLoS One* 2012; 7:e41424.
- 66. Salker M, Teklenburg G, Molokhia M, Lavery S, Trew G, Aojanepong T, Mardon HJ, Lokugamage AU, Rai R, Landles C, Roelen BA, Quenby S, et al. Natural selection of human embryos: impaired decidualization of endometrium disables embryo-maternal interactions and causes recurrent pregnancy loss. *PLoS One* 2010; **5**:e10287.
- 67. Coulam C. What about superfertility, decidualization, and natural selection? *Journal of Assisted Reproduction and Genetics* 2016; **33**:577-580.
- Ticconi C, Pietropolli A, D'Ippolito S, Chiaramonte C, Piccione E, Scambia G,
 Di Simone N. Time-to-Pregnancy in Women with Unexplained Recurrent
 Pregnancy Loss: A Controlled Study. *Reprod Sci* 2020; 27:1121-1128.
- Aplin JD, Hey NA, Li TC. MUC1 as a cell surface and secretory component of endometrial epithelium: reduced levels in recurrent miscarriage. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 1996; 35:261-266.
- 70. Quenby S, Anim-Somuah M, Kalumbi C, Farquharson R, Aplin JD. Different types of recurrent miscarriage are associated with varying patterns of adhesion molecule expression in endometrium. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2007; 14:224-234.
- 71. Wu F, Chen X, Liu Y, Liang B, Xu H, Li TC, Wang CC. Decreased MUC1 in

endometrium is an independent receptivity marker in recurrent implantation failure during implantation window. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2018; **16**:60.

- 72. Hey NA, Aplin JD. Sialyl-Lewis x and Sialyl-Lewis a are associated with MUC1 in human endometrium. *Glycoconj J* 1996; **13**:769-779.
- 73. Sheng YH, Triyana S, Wang R, Das I, Gerloff K, Florin TH, Sutton P, McGuckin MA. MUC1 and MUC13 differentially regulate epithelial inflammation in response to inflammatory and infectious stimuli. *Mucosal Immunol* 2013; 6:557-568.
- 74. Smith BAH, Bertozzi CR. The clinical impact of glycobiology: targeting selectins, Siglecs and mammalian glycans. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2021; 20:217-243.
- Reily C, Stewart TJ, Renfrow MB, Novak J. Glycosylation in health and disease. *Nat Rev Nephrol* 2019; 15:346-366.
- 76. Blanas A, Sahasrabudhe NM, Rodriguez E, van Kooyk Y, van Vliet SJ. Fucosylated Antigens in Cancer: An Alliance toward Tumor Progression, Metastasis, and Resistance to Chemotherapy. *Front Oncol* 2018; 8:39.
- Sakuma K, Aoki M, Kannagi R. Transcription factors c-Myc and CDX2 mediate
 E-selectin ligand expression in colon cancer cells undergoing EGF/bFGFinduced epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2012;
 109:7776-7781.
- Glavey SV, Manier S, Natoni A, Sacco A, Moschetta M, Reagan MR, Murillo LS, Sahin I, Wu P, Mishima Y, Zhang Y, Zhang W, et al. The sialyltransferase ST3GAL6 influences homing and survival in multiple myeloma. *Blood* 2014; 124:1765-1776.
- 79. Shiozaki K, Yamaguchi K, Takahashi K, Moriya S, Miyagi T. Regulation of sialyl Lewis antigen expression in colon cancer cells by sialidase NEU4. *J Biol Chem* 2011; 286:21052-21061.
- 80. Gadhoum SZ, Sackstein R. CD15 expression in human myeloid cell

differentiation is regulated by sialidase activity. Nat Chem Biol 2008; 4:751-757.

- Becker DJ, Lowe JB. Fucose: biosynthesis and biological function in mammals.
 Glycobiology 2003; 13:41R-53R.
- Oriol R, Mollicone R, Cailleau A, Balanzino L, Breton C. Divergent evolution of fucosyltransferase genes from vertebrates, invertebrates, and bacteria. *Glycobiology* 1999; 9:323-334.
- Ma B, Simala-Grant JL, Taylor DE. Fucosylation in prokaryotes and eukaryotes. *Glycobiology* 2006; 16:158R-184R.
- 84. de Vries T, Knegtel RM, Holmes EH, Macher BA. Fucosyltransferases: structure/function studies. *Glycobiology* 2001; **11**:119R-128R.
- 85. Mollicone R, Moore SE, Bovin N, Garcia-Rosasco M, Candelier JJ, Martinez-Duncker I, Oriol R. Activity, splice variants, conserved peptide motifs, and phylogeny of two new alpha1,3-fucosyltransferase families (FUT10 and FUT11). J Biol Chem 2009; 284:4723-4738.
- Tu CF, Wu MY, Lin YC, Kannagi R, Yang RB. FUT8 promotes breast cancer cell invasiveness by remodeling TGF-beta receptor core fucosylation. *Breast Cancer Res* 2017; 19:111.
- 87. Agrawal P, Fontanals-Cirera B, Sokolova E, Jacob S, Vaiana CA, Argibay D, Davalos V, McDermott M, Nayak S, Darvishian F, Castillo M, Ueberheide B, et al. A Systems Biology Approach Identifies FUT8 as a Driver of Melanoma Metastasis. *Cancer Cell* 2017; **31**:804-819 e807.
- Stahl M, Uemura K, Ge C, Shi S, Tashima Y, Stanley P. Roles of Pofut1 and Ofucose in mammalian Notch signaling. *J Biol Chem* 2008; 283:13638-13651.
- Chen CI, Keusch JJ, Klein D, Hess D, Hofsteenge J, Gut H. Structure of human POFUT2: insights into thrombospondin type 1 repeat fold and O-fucosylation. *EMBO J* 2012; **31**:3183-3197.
- 90. Nilsson T, Slusarewicz P, Hoe MH, Warren G. Kin recognition. A model for the retention of Golgi enzymes. *FEBS Lett* 1993; **330**:1-4.

- 91. Nilsson T, Rabouille C, Hui N, Watson R, Warren G. The role of the membranespanning domain and stalk region of N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase I in retention, kin recognition and structural maintenance of the Golgi apparatus in HeLa cells. *J Cell Sci* 1996; **109 (Pt 7)**:1975-1989.
- 92. Luo Y, Haltiwanger RS. O-fucosylation of notch occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum. *J Biol Chem* 2005; **280**:11289-11294.
- Okajima T, Xu A, Lei L, Irvine KD. Chaperone activity of protein Ofucosyltransferase 1 promotes notch receptor folding. *Science* 2005; **307**:1599-1603.
- 94. Legault DJ, Kelly RJ, Natsuka Y, Lowe JB. Human alpha(1,3/1,4)fucosyltransferases discriminate between different oligosaccharide acceptor substrates through a discrete peptide fragment. *J Biol Chem* 1995; 270:20987-20996.
- 95. Xu Z, Vo L, Macher BA. Structure-function analysis of human alpha1,3fucosyltransferase. Amino acids involved in acceptor substrate specificity. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:8818-8823.
- Nguyen AT, Holmes EH, Whitaker JM, Ho S, Shetterly S, Macher BA. Human alpha1,3/4-fucosyltransferases. I. Identification of amino acids involved in acceptor substrate binding by site-directed mutagenesis. *J Biol Chem* 1998; 273:25244-25249.
- 97. Angata T, Varki A. Chemical diversity in the sialic acids and related alpha-keto acids: an evolutionary perspective. *Chem Rev* 2002; **102**:439-469.
- Tanner ME. The enzymes of sialic acid biosynthesis. *Bioorg Chem* 2005;
 33:216-228.
- Harduin-Lepers A, Vallejo-Ruiz V, Krzewinski-Recchi MA, Samyn-Petit B, Julien S, Delannoy P. The human sialyltransferase family. *Biochimie* 2001; 83:727-737.
- 100. Audry M, Jeanneau C, Imberty A, Harduin-Lepers A, Delannoy P, Breton C.
Current trends in the structure-activity relationships of sialyltransferases. *Glycobiology* 2011; **21**:716-726.

- 101. Grewal RK, Shaikh AR, Gorle S, Kaur M, Videira PA, Cavallo L, Chawla M.
 Structural Insights in Mammalian Sialyltransferases and Fucosyltransferases:
 We Have Come a Long Way, but It Is Still a Long Way Down. *Molecules* 2021;
 26.
- 102. Carvalho AS, Harduin-Lepers A, Magalhaes A, Machado E, Mendes N, Costa LT, Matthiesen R, Almeida R, Costa J, Reis CA. Differential expression of alpha-2,3-sialyltransferases and alpha-1,3/4-fucosyltransferases regulates the levels of sialyl Lewis a and sialyl Lewis x in gastrointestinal carcinoma cells. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 2010; **42**:80-89.
- 103. Mondal N, Buffone A, Jr., Stolfa G, Antonopoulos A, Lau JT, Haslam SM, Dell A, Neelamegham S. ST3Gal-4 is the primary sialyltransferase regulating the synthesis of E-, P-, and L-selectin ligands on human myeloid leukocytes. *Blood* 2015; **125**:687-696.
- 104. Christie DR, Shaikh FM, Lucas JAt, Lucas JA, 3rd, Bellis SL. ST6Gal-I expression in ovarian cancer cells promotes an invasive phenotype by altering integrin glycosylation and function. *J Ovarian Res* 2008; 1:3.
- 105. Pshezhetsky AV, Richard C, Michaud L, Igdoura S, Wang S, Elsliger MA, Qu J, Leclerc D, Gravel R, Dallaire L, Potier M. Cloning, expression and chromosomal mapping of human lysosomal sialidase and characterization of mutations in sialidosis. *Nat Genet* 1997; 15:316-320.
- Monti E, Preti A, Rossi E, Ballabio A, Borsani G. Cloning and characterization of NEU2, a human gene homologous to rodent soluble sialidases. *Genomics* 1999; 57:137-143.
- 107. Wada T, Yoshikawa Y, Tokuyama S, Kuwabara M, Akita H, Miyagi T. Cloning, expression, and chromosomal mapping of a human ganglioside sialidase. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1999; 261:21-27.

- 108. Monti E, Bassi MT, Bresciani R, Civini S, Croci GL, Papini N, Riboni M, Zanchetti G, Ballabio A, Preti A, Tettamanti G, Venerando B, et al. Molecular cloning and characterization of NEU4, the fourth member of the human sialidase gene family. *Genomics* 2004; 83:445-453.
- Verheijen FW. Sialic Acid. In: Blau N, Duran M, Gibson KM (eds.), Laboratory Guide to the Methods in Biochemical Genetics. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2008: 335-349.
- Vajaria BN, Patel KR, Begum R, Patel PS. Sialylation: an Avenue to Target Cancer Cells. *Pathol Oncol Res* 2016; 22:443-447.
- Li F, Ding J. Sialylation is involved in cell fate decision during development, reprogramming and cancer progression. *Protein Cell* 2019; 10:550-565.
- 112. Goelz SE, Hession C, Goff D, Griffiths B, Tizard R, Newman B, Chi-Rosso G,
 Lobb R. ELFT: a gene that directs the expression of an ELAM-1 ligand. *Cell*1990; 63:1349-1356.
- Clarke JL, Watkins W. Alpha1,3-L-fucosyltransferase expression in developing human myeloid cells. Antigenic, enzymatic, and mRNA analyses. *J Biol Chem* 1996; 271:10317-10328.
- Gocht A. The subcellular localization of the carbohydrate epitope 3-fucosyl-N-acetyllactosamine is different in normal and reactive astrocytes. *Acta Anat* (*Basel*) 1992; 145:434-441.
- 115. Morres SA, Mai JK, Teckhaus L. Expression of the CD15 epitope in the human magnocellular basal forebrain system. *Histochem J* 1992; **24**:902-909.
- 116. Mollicone R, Bara J, Le Pendu J, Oriol R. Immunohistologic pattern of type 1 (Lea, Leb) and type 2 (X, Y, H) blood group-related antigens in the human pyloric and duodenal mucosae. *Lab Invest* 1985; **53**:219-227.
- 117. Hellstrom I, Garrigues HJ, Garrigues U, Hellstrom KE. Highly tumor-reactive, internalizing, mouse monoclonal antibodies to Le(y)-related cell surface antigens. *Cancer Res* 1990; **50**:2183-2190.

- 118. Chalabi S, Easton RL, Patankar MS, Lattanzio FA, Morrison JC, Panico M, Morris HR, Dell A, Clark GF. The expression of free oligosaccharides in human seminal plasma. *J Biol Chem* 2002; 277:32562-32570.
- 119. Pang PC, Tissot B, Drobnis EZ, Sutovsky P, Morris HR, Clark GF, Dell A. Expression of bisecting type and Lewisx/Lewisy terminated N-glycans on human sperm. *J Biol Chem* 2007; 282:36593-36602.
- 120. Ragupathi G, Damani P, Srivastava G, Srivastava O, Sucheck SJ, Ichikawa Y, Livingston PO. Synthesis of sialyl Lewis(a) (sLe (a), CA19-9) and construction of an immunogenic sLe(a) vaccine. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 2009; 58:1397-1405.
- Hakomori S. Tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens defining tumor malignancy: basis for development of anti-cancer vaccines. *Adv Exp Med Biol* 2001; **491**:369-402.
- 122. Ravindranath MH, Amiri AA, Bauer PM, Kelley MC, Essner R, Morton DL. Endothelial-selectin ligands sialyl Lewis(x) and sialyl Lewis(a) are differentiation antigens immunogenic in human melanoma. *Cancer* 1997; 79:1686-1697.
- Fukuda M, Hiraoka N, Yeh JC. C-type lectins and sialyl Lewis X oligosaccharides. Versatile roles in cell-cell interaction. J Cell Biol 1999; 147:467-470.
- 124. Ravn V, Teglbjaerg CS, Mandel U, Dabelsteen E. The distribution of type-2 chain histo-blood group antigens in normal cycling human endometrium. *Cell Tissue Res* 1992; 270:425-433.
- 125. Howaizi M, Abboura M, Krespine C, Sbai-Idrissi MS, Marty O, Djabbari-Sobhani M. A new cause for CA19.9 elevation: heavy tea consumption. *Gut* 2003; **52**:913-914.
- Al-Janabi A, Tawfeeq EF. Interfering Effect of Black Tea Consumption on Diagnosis of Pancreatic Cancer by CA 19-9. J Gastrointest Cancer 2017;

48:148-150.

- Mengerink KJ, Vacquier VD. Glycobiology of sperm-egg interactions in deuterostomes. *Glycobiology* 2001; 11:37R-43R.
- Wassarman PM, Jovine L, Litscher ES. A profile of fertilization in mammals. Nat Cell Biol 2001; 3:E59-64.
- 129. Johnston DS, Wright WW, Shaper JH, Hokke CH, Van den Eijnden DH, Joziasse DH. Murine sperm-zona binding, a fucosyl residue is required for a high affinity sperm-binding ligand. A second site on sperm binds a nonfucosylated, beta-galactosyl-capped oligosaccharide. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:1888-1895.
- Babu P, North SJ, Jang-Lee J, Chalabi S, Mackerness K, Stowell SR, Cummings RD, Rankin S, Dell A, Haslam SM. Structural characterisation of neutrophil glycans by ultra sensitive mass spectrometric glycomics methodology. *Glycoconj J* 2009; 26:975-986.
- Lucas H, Bercegeay S, Le Pendu J, Jean M, Mirallie S, Barriere P. A fucosecontaining epitope potentially involved in gamete interaction on the human zona pellucida. *Hum Reprod* 1994; 9:1532-1538.
- 132. Jimenez-Movilla M, Aviles M, Gomez-Torres MJ, Fernandez-Colom PJ, Castells MT, de Juan J, Romeu A, Ballesta J. Carbohydrate analysis of the zona pellucida and cortical granules of human oocytes by means of ultrastructural cytochemistry. *Hum Reprod* 2004; 19:1842-1855.
- 133. Pang PC, Chiu PC, Lee CL, Chang LY, Panico M, Morris HR, Haslam SM, Khoo KH, Clark GF, Yeung WS, Dell A. Human sperm binding is mediated by the sialyl-Lewis(x) oligosaccharide on the zona pellucida. *Science* 2011; 333:1761-1764.
- 134. Genbacev OD, Prakobphol A, Foulk RA, Krtolica AR, Ilic D, Singer MS, Yang ZQ, Kiessling LL, Rosen SD, Fisher SJ. Trophoblast L-selectin-mediated adhesion at the maternal-fetal interface. *Science* 2003; 299:405-408.

- Muramatsu T, Muramatsu H. Carbohydrate antigens expressed on stem cells and early embryonic cells. *Glycoconj J* 2004; 21:41-45.
- Wright AJ, Andrews PW. Surface marker antigens in the characterization of human embryonic stem cells. *Stem Cell Res* 2009; 3:3-11.
- 137. Fenderson BA, Zehavi U, Hakomori S. A multivalent lacto-N-fucopentaose IIIlysyllysine conjugate decompacts preimplantation mouse embryos, while the free oligosaccharide is ineffective. *J Exp Med* 1984; 160:1591-1596.
- Bird JM, Kimber SJ. Oligosaccharides containing fucose linked alpha(1-3) and alpha(1-4) to N-acetylglucosamine cause decompaction of mouse morulae. *Dev Biol* 1984; **104**:449-460.
- 139. Candelier JJ, Mollicone R, Mennesson B, Bergemer AM, Henry S, Coullin P, Oriol R. Alpha-3-fucosyltransferases and their glycoconjugate antigen products in the developing human kidney. *Lab Invest* 1993; 69:449-459.
- Cailleau-Thomas A, Coullin P, Candelier JJ, Balanzino L, Mennesson B, Oriol R, Mollicone R. FUT4 and FUT9 genes are expressed early in human embryogenesis. *Glycobiology* 2000; 10:789-802.
- Mai JK, Krajewski S, Reifenberger G, Genderski B, Lensing-Hohn S, Ashwell KW. Spatiotemporal expression gradients of the carbohydrate antigen (CD15) (Lewis X) during development of the human basal ganglia. *Neuroscience* 1999;
 88:847-858.
- 142. Nishihara S, Iwasaki H, Nakajima K, Togayachi A, Ikehara Y, Kudo T, Kushi Y,
 Furuya A, Shitara K, Narimatsu H. Alpha1,3-fucosyltransferase IX (Fut9)
 determines Lewis X expression in brain. *Glycobiology* 2003; 13:445-455.
- 143. Kudo T, Fujii T, Ikegami S, Inokuchi K, Takayama Y, Ikehara Y, Nishihara S, Togayachi A, Takahashi S, Tachibana K, Yuasa S, Narimatsu H. Mice lacking alpha1,3-fucosyltransferase IX demonstrate disappearance of Lewis x structure in brain and increased anxiety-like behaviors. *Glycobiology* 2007; 17:1-9.
- 144. Pruszak J, Ludwig W, Blak A, Alavian K, Isacson O. CD15, CD24, and CD29

define a surface biomarker code for neural lineage differentiation of stem cells. *Stem Cells* 2009; **27**:2928-2940.

- Heimburg-Molinaro J, Lum M, Vijay G, Jain M, Almogren A, Rittenhouse-Olson K. Cancer vaccines and carbohydrate epitopes. *Vaccine* 2011; 29:8802-8826.
- 146. Trinchera M, Aronica A, Dall'Olio F. Selectin Ligands Sialyl-Lewis a and Sialyl-Lewis x in Gastrointestinal Cancers. *Biology (Basel)* 2017; **6**.
- 147. Haas Q, Simillion C, von Gunten S. A Cartography of Siglecs and Sialyltransferases in Gynecologic Malignancies: Is There a Road Towards a Sweet Future? *Front Oncol* 2018; 8:68.
- 148. Haas Q, Boligan KF, Jandus C, Schneider C, Simillion C, Stanczak MA, Haubitz M, Seyed Jafari SM, Zippelius A, Baerlocher GM, Laubli H, Hunger RE, et al. Siglec-9 Regulates an Effector Memory CD8(+) T-cell Subset That Congregates in the Melanoma Tumor Microenvironment. *Cancer Immunol Res* 2019; **7**:707-718.
- Vestweber D, Blanks JE. Mechanisms that regulate the function of the selectins and their ligands. *Physiol Rev* 1999; **79**:181-213.
- Witz IP. The selectin-selectin ligand axis in tumor progression. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 2008; 27:19-30.
- 151. Weston BW, Hiller KM, Mayben JP, Manousos GA, Bendt KM, Liu R, Cusack JC, Jr. Expression of human alpha(1,3)fucosyltransferase antisense sequences inhibits selectin-mediated adhesion and liver metastasis of colon carcinoma cells. *Cancer Res* 1999; **59**:2127-2135.
- 152. Hiller KM, Mayben JP, Bendt KM, Manousos GA, Senger K, Cameron HS, Weston BW. Transfection of alpha(1,3)fucosyltransferase antisense sequences impairs the proliferative and tumorigenic ability of human colon carcinoma cells. *Mol Carcinog* 2000; 27:280-288.
- 153. Perez-Garay M, Arteta B, Pages L, de Llorens R, de Bolos C, Vidal-Vanaclocha

F, Peracaula R. alpha2,3-sialyltransferase ST3Gal III modulates pancreatic cancer cell motility and adhesion in vitro and enhances its metastatic potential in vivo. *PLoS One* 2010; **5**.

- 154. O I, Otvos L, Kieber-Emmons T, Blaszczyk-Thurin M. Role of SA-Le(a) and E-selectin in metastasis assessed with peptide antagonist. *Peptides* 2002;
 23:999-1010.
- 155. Jassam SA, Maherally Z, Smith JR, Ashkan K, Roncaroli F, Fillmore HL, Pilkington GJ. TNF-alpha enhancement of CD62E mediates adhesion of nonsmall cell lung cancer cells to brain endothelium via CD15 in lung-brain metastasis. *Neuro Oncol* 2016; 18:679-690.
- 156. Jassam SA, Maherally Z, Smith JR, Ashkan K, Roncaroli F, Fillmore HL, Pilkington GJ. CD15s/CD62E Interaction Mediates the Adhesion of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Cells on Brain Endothelial Cells: Implications for Cerebral Metastasis. *Int J Mol Sci* 2017; 18.
- 157. Tei K, Kawakami-Kimura N, Taguchi O, Kumamoto K, Higashiyama S, Taniguchi N, Toda K, Kawata R, Hisa Y, Kannagi R. Roles of cell adhesion molecules in tumor angiogenesis induced by cotransplantation of cancer and endothelial cells to nude rats. *Cancer Res* 2002; **62**:6289-6296.
- 158. Mathieu S, Gerolami R, Luis J, Carmona S, Kol O, Crescence L, Garcia S, Borentain P, El-Battari A. Introducing alpha(1,2)-linked fucose into hepatocarcinoma cells inhibits vasculogenesis and tumor growth. *Int J Cancer* 2007; **121**:1680-1689.
- 159. Terraneo L, Avagliano L, Caretti A, Bianciardi P, Tosi D, Bulfamante GP, Samaja M, Trinchera M. Expression of carbohydrate-antigen sialyl-Lewis a on colon cancer cells promotes xenograft growth and angiogenesis in nude mice. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 2013; 45:2796-2800.
- Moehler TM, Sauer S, Witzel M, Andrulis M, Garcia-Vallejo JJ, Grobholz R,
 Willhauck-Fleckenstein M, Greiner A, Goldschmidt H, Schwartz-Albiez R.

Involvement of alpha 2-fucosyltransferase I (FUT1) and surface-expressed Lewis(y) (CD174) in first endothelial cell-cell contacts during angiogenesis. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 2008; **215**:27-36.

- 161. Sauer S, Meissner T, Moehler T. A Furan-Based Lewis-Y-(CD174)-Saccharide Mimetic Inhibits Endothelial Functions and In Vitro Angiogenesis. Adv Clin Exp Med 2015; 24:759-768.
- Kalluri R, Weinberg RA. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest 2009; 119:1420-1428.
- 163. Hirakawa M, Takimoto R, Tamura F, Yoshida M, Ono M, Murase K, Sato Y, Osuga T, Sato T, Iyama S, Miyanishi K, Takada K, et al. Fucosylated TGF-beta receptors transduces a signal for epithelial-mesenchymal transition in colorectal cancer cells. *Br J Cancer* 2014; **110**:156-163.
- 164. Yang X, Liu S, Yan Q. Role of fucosyltransferase IV in epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer cells. *Cell Death Dis* 2013; 4:e735.
- 165. Yan L, Lin B, Gao L, Gao S, Liu C, Wang C, Wang Y, Zhang S, Iwamori M. Lewis (y) antigen overexpression increases the expression of MMP-2 and MMP-9 and invasion of human ovarian cancer cells. *Int J Mol Sci* 2010; 11:4441-4452.
- 166. Saygin C, Matei D, Majeti R, Reizes O, Lathia JD. Targeting Cancer Stemness in the Clinic: From Hype to Hope. *Cell Stem Cell* 2019; 24:25-40.
- 167. Terao N, Takamatsu S, Minehira T, Sobajima T, Nakayama K, Kamada Y, Miyoshi E. Fucosylation is a common glycosylation type in pancreatic cancer stem cell-like phenotypes. *World J Gastroenterol* 2015; 21:3876-3887.
- 168. Desiderio V, Papagerakis P, Tirino V, Zheng L, Matossian M, Prince ME, Paino F, Mele L, Papaccio F, Montella R, Papaccio G, Papagerakis S. Increased fucosylation has a pivotal role in invasive and metastatic properties of head and neck cancer stem cells. *Oncotarget* 2015; 6:71-84.
- 169. Czerwinski MJ, Desiderio V, Shkeir O, Papagerakis P, Lapadatescu MC, Owen

JH, Athanassiou-Papaefthymiou M, Zheng L, Papaccio G, Prince ME, Papagerakis S. In vitro evaluation of sialyl Lewis X relationship with head and neck cancer stem cells. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg* 2013; **149**:97-104.

- Son MJ, Woolard K, Nam DH, Lee J, Fine HA. SSEA-1 is an enrichment marker for tumor-initiating cells in human glioblastoma. *Cell Stem Cell* 2009; 4:440-452.
- 171. Read TA, Fogarty MP, Markant SL, McLendon RE, Wei Z, Ellison DW, Febbo
 PG, Wechsler-Reya RJ. Identification of CD15 as a marker for tumorpropagating cells in a mouse model of medulloblastoma. *Cancer Cell* 2009; 15:135-147.
- 172. Lin WM, Karsten U, Goletz S, Cheng RC, Cao Y. Co-expression of CD173 (H2) and CD174 (Lewis Y) with CD44 suggests that fucosylated histo-blood group antigens are markers of breast cancer-initiating cells. *Virchows Arch* 2010; 456:403-409.
- 173. Luo G, Jin K, Deng S, Cheng H, Fan Z, Gong Y, Qian Y, Huang Q, Ni Q, Liu C,
 Yu X. Roles of CA19-9 in pancreatic cancer: Biomarker, predictor and promoter. *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer* 2021; 1875:188409.
- Goonetilleke KS, Siriwardena AK. Systematic review of carbohydrate antigen (CA 19-9) as a biochemical marker in the diagnosis of pancreatic cancer. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2007; **33**:266-270.
- 175. Tang H, Singh S, Partyka K, Kletter D, Hsueh P, Yadav J, Ensink E, Bern M, Hostetter G, Hartman D, Huang Y, Brand RE, et al. Glycan motif profiling reveals plasma sialyl-lewis x elevations in pancreatic cancers that are negative for sialyl-lewis A. *Mol Cell Proteomics* 2015; 14:1323-1333.
- Hartwig W, Strobel O, Hinz U, Fritz S, Hackert T, Roth C, Buchler MW, Werner
 J. CA19-9 in potentially resectable pancreatic cancer: perspective to adjust surgical and perioperative therapy. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2013; 20:2188-2196.
- 177. Humphris JL, Chang DK, Johns AL, Scarlett CJ, Pajic M, Jones MD, Colvin

EK, Nagrial A, Chin VT, Chantrill LA, Samra JS, Gill AJ, et al. The prognostic and predictive value of serum CA19.9 in pancreatic cancer. *Ann Oncol* 2012; **23**:1713-1722.

- 178. Motoi F, Murakami Y, Okada KI, Matsumoto I, Uemura K, Satoi S, Sho M, Honda G, Fukumoto T, Yanagimoto H, Kinoshita S, Kurata M, et al. Sustained Elevation of Postoperative Serum Level of Carbohydrate Antigen 19-9 is High-Risk Stigmata for Primary Hepatic Recurrence in Patients with Curatively Resected Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma. *World J Surg* 2019; **43**:634-641.
- 179. Hata S, Sakamoto Y, Yamamoto Y, Nara S, Esaki M, Shimada K, Kosuge T. Prognostic impact of postoperative serum CA 19-9 levels in patients with resectable pancreatic cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2012; 19:636-641.
- 180. Duffy MJ, Lamerz R, Haglund C, Nicolini A, Kalousova M, Holubec L, Sturgeon C. Tumor markers in colorectal cancer, gastric cancer and gastrointestinal stromal cancers: European group on tumor markers 2014 guidelines update. *Int J Cancer* 2014; **134**:2513-2522.
- 181. Zhang M, Cheng S, Jin Y, Zhao Y, Wang Y. Roles of CA125 in diagnosis, prediction, and oncogenesis of ovarian cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta Rev Cancer* 2021; 1875:188503.
- 182. Huang C, Zhan T, Liu Y, Li Q, Wu H, Ji D, Li Y. Glycomic profiling of carcinoembryonic antigen isolated from human tumor tissue. *Clin Proteomics* 2015; **12**:17.
- 183. Rho JH, Mead JR, Wright WS, Brenner DE, Stave JW, Gildersleeve JC, Lampe PD. Discovery of sialyl Lewis A and Lewis X modified protein cancer biomarkers using high density antibody arrays. *J Proteomics* 2014; 96:291-299.
- 184. Yin BW, Finstad CL, Kitamura K, Federici MG, Welshinger M, Kudryashov V, Hoskins WJ, Welt S, Lloyd KO. Serological and immunochemical analysis of Lewis y (Ley) blood group antigen expression in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Int J Cancer* 1996; **65**:406-412.

- 185. Chua JX, Vankemmelbeke M, McIntosh RS, Clarke PA, Moss R, Parsons T, Spendlove I, Zaitoun AM, Madhusudan S, Durrant LG. Monoclonal Antibodies Targeting LecLex-Related Glycans with Potent Antitumor Activity. *Clin Cancer Res* 2015; **21**:2963-2974.
- 186. Soliman C, Guy AJ, Chua JX, Vankemmelbeke M, McIntosh RS, Eastwood S, Truong VK, Elbourne A, Spendlove I, Durrant LG, Ramsland PA. Molecular and structural basis for Lewis glycan recognition by a cancer-targeting antibody. *Biochem J* 2020; 477:3219-3235.
- 187. Houvast RD, Baart VM, Bhairosingh SS, Cordfunke RA, Chua JX, Vankemmelbeke M, Parsons T, Kuppen PJK, Durrant LG, Vahrmeijer AL, Sier CFM. Glycan-Based Near-infrared Fluorescent (NIRF) Imaging of Gastrointestinal Tumors: a Preclinical Proof-of-Concept In Vivo Study. *Mol Imaging Biol* 2020; 22:1511-1522.
- 188. Sabbatini PJ, Kudryashov V, Ragupathi G, Danishefsky SJ, Livingston PO, Bornmann W, Spassova M, Zatorski A, Spriggs D, Aghajanian C, Soignet S, Peyton M, et al. Immunization of ovarian cancer patients with a synthetic Lewis(y)-protein conjugate vaccine: a phase 1 trial. *Int J Cancer* 2000; **87**:79-85.
- 189. Westwood JA, Murray WK, Trivett M, Haynes NM, Solomon B, Mileshkin L, Ball D, Michael M, Burman A, Mayura-Guru P, Trapani JA, Peinert S, et al. The Lewis-Y carbohydrate antigen is expressed by many human tumors and can serve as a target for genetically redirected T cells despite the presence of soluble antigen in serum. *J Immunother* 2009; **32**:292-301.
- 190. Hutchins LF, Makhoul I, Emanuel PD, Pennisi A, Siegel ER, Jousheghany F, Guo X, Pashov AD, Monzavi-Karbassi B, Kieber-Emmons T. Targeting tumorassociated carbohydrate antigens: a phase I study of a carbohydrate mimeticpeptide vaccine in stage IV breast cancer subjects. *Oncotarget* 2017; 8:99161-99178.

- 191. Sawada R, Sun SM, Wu X, Hong F, Ragupathi G, Livingston PO, Scholz WW.
 Human monoclonal antibodies to sialyl-Lewis (CA19.9) with potent CDC,
 ADCC, and antitumor activity. *Clin Cancer Res* 2011; 17:1024-1032.
- 192. O'Reilly EM, Borazanci EH, Yu KH, Varghese AM, Estrella H, Kamins D, Melink T, Dorr K, Maffuid P, Gutheil J, Wang JS-Z, Bauer TM. HuMab-5B1 (MVT-5873), a mAb targeting sLea, in combination with first-line gemcitabine plus nab-paclitaxel (gem/nab-P) for patients with pancreatic cancer (PDAC) and other CA19-9 positive malignancies. 2018; **36**:e16235-e16235.
- 193. Gupta S, McDonald JD, Ayabe RI, Khan TM, Gamble LA, Sinha S, Hannah C, Blakely AM, Davis JL, Hernandez JM. Targeting CA 19-9 with a humanized monoclonal antibody at the time of surgery may decrease recurrence rates for patients undergoing resections for pancreatic cancer, cholangiocarcinoma and metastatic colorectal cancer. *J Gastrointest Oncol* 2020; 11:231-235.
- 194. Weitzenfeld P, Bournazos S, Ravetch JV. Antibodies targeting sialyl Lewis A mediate tumor clearance through distinct effector pathways. *J Clin Invest* 2019; 129:3952-3962.
- 195. Dewald JH, Colomb F, Bobowski-Gerard M, Groux-Degroote S, Delannoy P. Role of Cytokine-Induced Glycosylation Changes in Regulating Cell Interactions and Cell Signaling in Inflammatory Diseases and Cancer. *Cells* 2016; 5.
- 196. Majuri ML, Niemela R, Tiisala S, Renkonen O, Renkonen R. Expression and function of alpha 2,3-sialyl- and alpha 1,3/1,4-fucosyltransferases in colon adenocarcinoma cell lines: role in synthesis of E-selectin counter-receptors. *Int J Cancer* 1995; 63:551-559.
- 197. Kuninaka S, Yano T, Yokoyama H, Fukuyama Y, Terazaki Y, Uehara T, Kanematsu T, Asoh H, Ichinose Y. Direct influences of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1beta, TNF-alpha, IL-6) on the proliferation and cell-surface antigen expression of cancer cells. *Cytokine* 2000; **12**:8-11.

- 198. Grohmann GP, Schirmacher P, Manzke O, Hanisch FG, Dienes HP, Baldus SE. Modulation of MUC1 and blood group antigen expression in gastric adenocarcinoma cells by cytokines. *Cytokine* 2003; 23:86-93.
- 199. Higai K, Miyazaki N, Azuma Y, Matsumoto K. Interleukin-1beta induces sialyl Lewis X on hepatocellular carcinoma HuH-7 cells via enhanced expression of ST3Gal IV and FUT VI gene. *FEBS Lett* 2006; **580**:6069-6075.
- 200. Bassaganas S, Allende H, Cobler L, Ortiz MR, Llop E, de Bolos C, Peracaula R. Inflammatory cytokines regulate the expression of glycosyltransferases involved in the biosynthesis of tumor-associated sialylated glycans in pancreatic cancer cell lines. *Cytokine* 2015; **75**:197-206.
- 201. Miyamoto M, Shimizu Y, Okada K, Kashii Y, Higuchi K, Watanabe A. Effect of interleukin-8 on production of tumor-associated substances and autocrine growth of human liver and pancreatic cancer cells. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* 1998; 47:47-57.
- 202. Delmotte P, Degroote S, Lafitte JJ, Lamblin G, Perini JM, Roussel P. Tumor necrosis factor alpha increases the expression of glycosyltransferases and sulfotransferases responsible for the biosynthesis of sialylated and/or sulfated Lewis x epitopes in the human bronchial mucosa. *J Biol Chem* 2002; 277:424-431.
- 203. Groux-Degroote S, Krzewinski-Recchi MA, Cazet A, Vincent A, Lehoux S, Lafitte JJ, Van Seuningen I, Delannoy P. IL-6 and IL-8 increase the expression of glycosyltransferases and sulfotransferases involved in the biosynthesis of sialylated and/or sulfated Lewisx epitopes in the human bronchial mucosa. *Biochem J* 2008; **410**:213-223.
- 204. Colomb F, Krzewinski-Recchi MA, El Machhour F, Mensier E, Jaillard S, Steenackers A, Harduin-Lepers A, Lafitte JJ, Delannoy P, Groux-Degroote S. TNF regulates sialyl-Lewisx and 6-sulfo-sialyl-Lewisx expression in human lung through up-regulation of ST3GAL4 transcript isoform BX. *Biochimie* 2012;

94:2045-2053.

- 205. Colomb F, Vidal O, Bobowski M, Krzewinski-Recchi MA, Harduin-Lepers A, Mensier E, Jaillard S, Lafitte JJ, Delannoy P, Groux-Degroote S. TNF induces the expression of the sialyltransferase ST3Gal IV in human bronchial mucosa via MSK1/2 protein kinases and increases FliD/sialyl-Lewis(x)-mediated adhesion of Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Biochem J* 2014; **457**:79-87.
- 206. Carroll DJ, Burns MWN, Mottram L, Propheter DC, Boucher A, Lessen GM, Kumar A, Malaker SA, Xing C, Hooper LV, Yrlid U, Kohler JJ. Interleukin-22 regulates B3GNT7 expression to induce fucosylation of glycoproteins in intestinal epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 2021:101463.
- 207. Padro M, Mejias-Luque R, Cobler L, Garrido M, Perez-Garay M, Puig S, Peracaula R, de Bolos C. Regulation of glycosyltransferases and Lewis antigens expression by IL-1beta and IL-6 in human gastric cancer cells. *Glycoconj J* 2011; 28:99-110.

10. Acknowledgements

Firstly, my most profound appreciation goes to Prof. Dr. Udo Jeschke and Dr. Viktoria von Schönfeldt, my Ph.D. advisors and mentors, for their guidance and support throughout my doctoral studies. Their vast wisdom and wealth of experience have been always inspiring me over the past four years. In addition, I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Mirjana Kessler, Dr. Anca Chelariu-Raicu, Prof. Dr. Markus Sperandio, and Prof. Dr. Sven Mahner for their enormous help in solving every problem I encountered throughout my research.

I am also grateful to our technicians Martina Rahmeh, Christina Kuhn, Cornelia Herbst, Sabine Fink, Simone Hofmann, and Gabriele Weimer in the LMU Frauenklinik laboratory. Thanks to their time and efforts, I could always conduct my research works smoothly. Friends and lab mates Lili Lin, Lin Peng, Qun Wang, Mingjun Zheng, Huixia Yang, Isabel Kellner, Mareike Mannewitz, Lena Müller, and Sophie Mitter are all appreciated for the memorable times we had working together. Meanwhile, many thanks to the financial support from China Scholarship Council, which gave me the chance to start this "journey" in Germany.

From the bottom of my heart, I value and appreciate all the unconditional love, support, and encouragement from my parents! For my beloved girlfriend Siyuan Gong, because of you, the time I spent studying and living in Munich has been truly rewarding. We have accompanied each other through the pandemic era and come a long way since our first trip in Heidelberg, I believe that an even brighter future is awaiting us!

List of all scientific publications

As first author:

- Sialyl Lewis X mediates interleukin-1 beta induced trophoblast adhesion to endometrial cells during human embryo implantation. *Biol Reprod.* 2023; Jan 16:ioad007. DOI: 10.1093/biolre/ioad007.
- Targeting aberrantly elevated Sialyl Lewis A as a potential therapy for impaired endometrial selection ability in unexplained recurrent miscarriage. *Front Immunol.* 2022; 13:919193. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.919193.
- Expression of the carbohydrate Lewis antigen, Sialyl Lewis A, Sialyl Lewis X, Lewis X, and Lewis Y in the placental villi of patients with unexplained miscarriages. *Front Immunol.* 2021; 12:679424. DOI: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.679424.

As co-author:

- The role of Interleukin-18 in recurrent early pregnancy loss. *J Reprod Immunol*. 2021; 148:103432. DOI: 10.1016/j.jri.2021.103432.
- Prostaglandin e2 receptor 4 (ep4) affects trophoblast functions via activating the camp-PKA-pCREB signaling pathway at the maternal-fetal interface in unexplained recurrent miscarriage. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021; 22:9134. DOI: 10.3390/ijms22179134.
- Comparison of Histone H3K4me3 between IVF and ICSI technologies and between boy and girl offspring. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021; 22:8574. DOI: 10.3390/ijms22168574.
- Role of Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptors (PPARs) in trophoblast functions. *Int J Mol Sci*. 2021; 22:433. DOI: 10.3390/ijms22010433.
- Early life oxidative stress and long-lasting cardiovascular effects on offspring conceived by Assisted Reproductive Technologies: A review. *Int J Mol Sci*. 2020; 21:5175. DOI: 10.3390/ijms21155175.